



Technology-neutral vs Technology-specific Policies in Climate Regulation: The Case for CO₂ Emission Standards

Discussion Paper

Presented at Master in Sustainability Management - First Annual Conference SDA-Bocconi University, Milan 16/10/2024

Author

Dr. Carl-Friedrich Elmer, Senior Associate, Transport Economics, Agora Verkehrswende Email: carl-friedrich.elmer@agora-verkehrswende.de

Contribution

Dr. Massimiliano Bienati, Head of Transport Programme, ECCO think tank Email: massimiliano.bienati@eccoclimate.org

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS: We are grateful for valuable comments provided by Prof. Matteo Di Castelnuovo, Bocconi University, Prof. Daniel Gros, Institute for European Policymaking at Bocconi University, and Prof. Daniel Sperling, UC Davis.

DISCLAIMER: The views set out in this paper are those of the authors and may not represent those of the conference participants. The text was refined for language quality with the assistance of ChatGPT.

Executive Summary

The debate on technology neutrality versus technology specificity in environmental regulation, particularly in addressing climate change, has flared up again recently. While earlier discussions centered on decarbonizing electricity generation, primary attention has shifted to the transition to zero-emission mobility—notably focusing on the European CO_2 standards for cars. Critics of the CO_2 limits complain that they are not sufficiently technology-neutral, thereby restricting abatement options, limiting flexibility for vehicle manufacturers, and leading to unnecessary costs. In the wake of sluggish electric car sales and a sense of crisis in the automotive industry, voices are being raised calling for a postponement, relaxation, or outright repeal of CO_2 limits, advocating instead for the new European Emissions Trading System 2 to serve as the primary instrument for climate protection in the transport sector.

At first glance, technology-neutral approaches like carbon pricing seem to actually offer a superior pathway to decarbonization by allowing market participants to choose the most cost-effective methods to reduce emissions. Comprehensive carbon pricing, in theory, equalizes marginal abatement costs across all available options to mitigate GHG emissions, encouraging reductions where they are cheapest and allowing innovation to flourish without government interference. However, this theoretical superiority relies on assumptions of undistorted, perfectly working markets as well as informed and fully rational actors—conditions that are rarely met in the real world.

In reality, besides carbon markets being regionally and sectorally fragmented, market imperfections such as positive and negative externalities, information asymmetries and behavioral biases, preexisting misaligned incentives and entrenched technological path dependencies confine the costeffectiveness of carbon pricing alone. Imperfections in real-world markets warrant a policy mix to efficiently and effectively steer decarbonization, particularly to drive the necessary technological innovation.

Among the various market imperfections, consumers' tendency to undervalue future energy costs is a key factor underpinning the economic rationale for fuel efficiency standards. As these standards play a crucial role in lowering vehicles' specific energy consumption, they directly benefit consumers through reduced fuel costs. Additionally, by making vehicles less CO₂-intensive, the standards indirectly alleviate financial pressure on consumers in the transport sector by contributing to lower future CO₂ prices under the ETS 2. Slow regulation-induced energy efficiency progress in the vehicle fleet would cause consumers to miss out on significant savings.

Industrial policy considerations provide another argument against weakening the European CO₂ standards. As global demand for zero-emission vehicles continues to grow, maintaining and regaining technology leadership—also in EV technology—is crucial for European automakers to secure their market share in rapidly evolving markets. Stringent standards push manufacturers to innovate in electric drivetrains, battery technologies, and energy-efficient vehicle designs, thereby enhancing the international competitiveness of the European automotive industry. Consequently, watering down the standards would not only slow progress on decarbonization but also harms Europe's position in the global automotive market stifling advancements in clean technologies.

Moreover, postponing or weakening the CO_2 standards (or suspending potential penalties), particularly if done during—or even after—the final stretch toward the 2025 targets, would send a damaging signal about the reliability and credibility of European climate policy as a whole. This loss of credibility jeopardizes Europe's ability to achieve its climate targets and reduces cost-effectiveness, as firms and consumers may delay long-term beneficial investments if they distrust the stability of the regulatory framework. Strong, predictable, and consistently enforced policies are essential to maintaining confidence in climate policy, ensuring both environmental effectiveness and economic efficiency. In consequence, there are strong reasons to maintain the CO₂ standards in full ambition and resist the temptation to weaken them. Nonetheless, thoughtful adjustments of the sector's regulatory framework may sometimes be warranted in light of new insights and evolving market developments to improve its environmental and economic performance. Striking a balance between providing reliability and maintaining environmental integrity, while allowing for meaningful reforms, is essential and requires great care. Each reform option must be judged on its capacity to provide stability for investors, strengthen the competitiveness of European manufacturers, and continue delivering both environmental and consumer benefits.

Expanding the scope of the CO_2 fleet regulation beyond vehicle characteristics directly controlled by manufacturers to include renewable fuels, such as advanced biofuels and e-fuels, does not appear justified for several reasons. Focusing on vehicle technology incentivizes manufacturers to innovate and develop more energy-efficient cars, particularly EVs. Allowing renewable fuels as compliance options could hinder this progress, as their use does not improve vehicle efficiency and may delay the development of EVs and the necessary charging infrastructure. Additionally, consumers could face financial disadvantages, suffering both from higher fuel consumption and increased fuel prices due to the higher production costs of these fuels.

Moreover, while large-scale production of first-generation biofuels competes with sectors like food production and can cause deforestation and land-use conflicts, second-generation biofuels are more sustainable but limited by feedstock availability. E-fuels require large amounts of renewable electricity, which is still in limited supply. Finally, biofuels and e-fuels are crucial for sectors like aviation and shipping, where decarbonization alternatives are still lacking, making their diversion to passenger cars inefficient and counterproductive. Hence, vehicle technology and fuel regulation should remain separate to assign clear responsibilities, encourage innovation, and save consumers money.

Expanding fleet standards even further to cover the entire vehicle lifecycle poses significant challenges, such as blurring responsibilities and the difficulty of collecting accurate global supply chain data. Combining manufacturing-related and use-phase emissions within a single metric is problematic, as it mixes fixed and usage-dependent impacts, potentially causing confusion and creating new inefficiencies. To address upstream emissions and disposal-related environmental performance, specifically dedicated policy instruments are more appropriate.

When it comes to assessing additional compliance flexibility mechanisms for car manufacturers, the principle has to be: flexibility must not become a loophole that prevents necessary emissions reductions; instead, it has to be implemented with robust safeguards to ensure steady progress toward climate goals. If regulators seek additional compliance flexibility, mechanisms such as banking and borrowing could be considered, provided they do not compromise the environmental integrity of the CO_2 fleet standards. To meet this requirement, for instance, banking and borrowing cannot be combined with the current CO_2 target trajectory, as this would lead to the generation of "windfall" emission credits. Rather, credits within a potential banking and borrowing system should only be generated relative to a continuously declining CO_2 target trajectory. Without proper safeguards like this, such flexibility mechanisms can severely harm the regulation's integrity and credibility.

To reflect the evolving nature of the automotive sector, the regulatory framework will need to undergo gradual adjustments in the future. As the share of EVs steadily rises, it will become increasingly important to expand the regulatory focus beyond only tailpipe emissions to include energy efficiency. Otherwise, there is a growing risk of partially offsetting the environmental benefits of electrification due to increasing vehicle sizes and untapped energy-saving potential. Approaches to regulate specific energy consumption should be developed soon, as they offer a way to conserve resources, reduce environmental strain, and lower costs for drivers.

In conclusion, while carbon pricing—e.g., via the EU ETS 2—remains an essential policy tool for decarbonization, a well-rounded policy mix, including targeted technology-specific interventions, is indispensable for ensuring both environmental effectiveness and economic efficiency in the transition

to zero-emission mobility. Instruments such as strategic R&D support, infrastructure investments, and improved information policies are needed to address market imperfections. Within this policy mix, the EU's CO_2 standards are a key instrument, crucial for driving the innovation required to meet Europe's climate and competitiveness goals. Relaxing these standards to ease transformational pressure is like a 'sweet poison,' seemingly beneficial to the automotive industry in the short term but ultimately harmful, as it would not only undermine Europe's climate objectives but also jeopardize its long-term economic prosperity, leaving the industry vulnerable in an increasingly green global economy.

Table of Contents

1.	Background: Europe's climate goals, Green Deal, and Fit-for-55	7
2. de	Carbon pricing as the technology-neutral silver bullet to the ecarbonization challenge?	9
	2.1 Reemergence of an economic controversy: technology-neutrality vs technology- specificity	
	2.2 The case for technology neutrality: What does technology neutrality mean and varies its merits?	
	2.3 Carbon pricing as the prototypical technology-neutral policy	10
	2.4 Rational actors and perfect competition as requirements for superiority of technology-neutral climate policy	10
3.	Market imperfections affecting vehicle technology choice	12
3	3.1 Positive externalities and why CO_2 pricing alone is insufficient to address them .	12
	R&D spillovers	12
	Learning-by-doing spillovers	
	Learning-by-using spillovers	
	Network effects and complementarities	
	Summary: Timely technology transition needs targeted innovation-oriented instruments.	
	3.2 Non-climate externalities from fossil fuel consumption	
3	3.3 Institutional barriers to clean technology market development	14
	Adverse selection: Lemons in the new vehicle market?	
	Distortions from company car taxation	
	Capital market imperfections	
	Market power as a potential innovation obstacle	
	Coordination challenges	
	Risk-averse firm behavior and managerial incentives	
	Summary	
	3.4 Behavioral barriers to EV and fuel economy adoption	
	Loss Aversion, endowment effects, and status quo bias	
	Narrow bracketing, money fungibility, and mental accounting Salience effects	
	Discounting anomalies and short-sighted decision-making	
	Bounded rationality and rational inattention	
	, Summary	
3	3.5 Conclusion: the need for a policy mix to overcome barriers to EV adoption	20
	The role of CO ₂ standards in the policy mix	21
	On the difficulty to find the right carbon price in the presence of market imperfections	21

4. Political-economic considerations	22
4.1 Challenge from time-inconsistent regulatory behavior	22
4.2 Credibility as a key success factor	22
4.3 Vulnerability to time-inconsistency: regulatory approaches vs. market-based	
instruments	22
4.4 Time consistency through a well-balanced policy mix	23
4.5 Conclusion	23
5. CO ₂ standards and the EU's green industrial policy	25
6. Critical assessment of options for further development of the regulatory	/
framework	26
6.1 Accounting for renewable fuels	26
6.2 Expanding the regulatory scope to the entire vehicle life cycle	27
6.3 Regulating energy consumption of EVs	29
6.4 Banking and borrowing to provide compliance flexibility	30
6.5 Conclusion: Keep focus on vehicle technology, avoid potential loopholes	31
7. Final remarks	33
Literature	34
Key Sources	34
Chapter 1	34
Chapter 2	34
Chapter 3	35
Chapter 4	41
Chapter 5	41
Chapter 6	41

1. Background: Europe's climate goals, Green Deal, and Fit-for-55

Global warming is one of the greatest challenges facing mankind. As part of international agreements, in particular the Paris Climate Agreement, the European Union (EU) has committed to doing its part to combat climate change. To this end, it has set itself ambitious targets for reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. The EU has committed to cutting greenhouse gas emissions by at least 55% by 2030 compared to 1990 levels. This target is a part of the EU's nationally determined contribution (NDC) under the Paris Agreement. By 2050, The EU aims to achieve net-zero greenhouse gas emissions by 2050. The European Commission has proposed an emissions reduction target of 90% for 2040, but this has not yet been finalized.

The European Green Deal is the centrepiece on the way to achieving these goals. The European Green Deal is the EU's overarching framework for combating climate change and transforming the economy towards climate neutrality. It comprises a wide range of measures, targets and strategies aimed at reducing emissions, protecting biodiversity and promoting a sustainable economy.

The Fit for 55 package is a central component of the Green Deal and serves to achieve the shorterterm emissions reduction targets by 2030. More specifically, it is the legislative package designed to ensure the implementation of the target of reducing greenhouse gas emissions by at least 55% by 2030 (compared to 1990 levels).

The Green Deal Industrial Plan, unveiled in early 2023, should support the industrial transformation needed to achieve the objectives of the Green Deal, thereby ensuring that climate protection goes hand in hand with economic prosperity. By strategically strengthening and scaling up the EU's manufacturing capacity for clean technologies through providing a supportive environment, it aims at enhancing the EU's industrial competitiveness, improving its energy system's resilience, and to create quality jobs.

The transport sector is a major emitter of GHG, and passenger cars contribute the most to this record. The EU's domestic GHG emissions from transport steadily increased from 2013 until the disruption of the Covid-19 pandemic, largely due to growth in passenger transport and inland freight volumes. In 2019, transport's share in overall domestic GHG emissions reached 28% (up from 16% in 1990 and 23% in 2005)., totalling 1.103 Mt CO₂eq. Within the sector, road transport contributes roughly three quarters of the GHG emissions; these are split again between 38% for freight transport and 62% for passenger transport. Cars alone emitted in 2019 485 Mt CO₂eq, thereby causing 13% of the EU's total domestic GHG emissions.

Yet, the transport sector is not only a major source of GHG emissions, it is also a key pillar of the European economy. A well-functioning transportation system is a basic prerequisite for a flourishing economy based on the division of labour. In addition, the automotive industry is one of the most important economic branches and a very important employer in the EU. The automotive sector, in its broader sense, contributes 7% to European GDP and employs 13 million people (both directly and indirectly). Direct manufacturing—specifically vehicles and parts—accounts for 10% of the total European manufacturing value added and just under 2% of EU GDP, supporting 2.6 million jobs.

In light of the great importance of the sector for climate protection, several instruments of the Green Deal and the Fit for 55 package address the transport sector. These include CO_2 standards for cars, vans and trucks; expansion of the charging infrastructure for electric vehicles and promotion of the development of zero-emission drives; promoting the use of clean energy sources in shipping and air traffic, amongst others through the introduction of quotas for sustainable fuels; promotion of rail and public transport to reduce the use of private vehicles. Beyond those sector-specific measures, a second emissions trading system (ETS 2) will be introduced in 2027 that covers road transport (and some others sources such a buildings) in order to reduce emissions through CO_2 pricing. These instruments aim to reduce emissions in the transport sector by at least 90% by 2050.

Technological approaches are at the heart of (European) efforts to reduce GHG emissions in the transport sector. Given its economic importance and its major emissions contribution, the technological transformation of the car industry draws particular attention. There have been heated debates both in individual member states and at European level about the right technology policy approach and regulatory framework. An appropriate regulatory environment should help to meet the climate policy targets and at the same time economic criteria: namely cost-effectiveness in achieving the targets and securing long-term value creation, innovative strength and international competitiveness of the European vehicle industry.

One key regulatory measure that has received a great deal of political and public attention is the CO_2 fleet standards—and in particular the so-called internal combustion engine ban. They require vehicle manufacturers to reduce their new vehicle fleets' average per-km tailpipe CO_2 exhaust; they can do so by means of improving the efficiency of their internal combustion engine vehicles (ICEV) and ramping up the sales of electric vehicles (EV). The average CO_2 emissions need to go down by 15% and 55% by the year 2025 and 2030, respectively; in 2035, the new car fleet has to be CO_2 -free.

The debate on CO₂ standards has flared up again recently in the wake of the European Parliament elections and the sluggish sales of e-cars in some countries. Critics of the CO₂ limits complain that they are not sufficiently technology-neutral. As a result, they would deprive citizens and companies of flexibility in their choice of climate protection efforts and thus drive up abatement costs; car manufacturers would be restricted in their entrepreneurial freedom. Ultimately, such a technology-specific regulatory framework would lead to unnecessarily high costs and could jeopardize the prosperity of the automotive industry. The argument mentioned last is often emphasized with the point that the CO₂ standards force European manufacturers to abandon the combustion engine technology, in which they are globally leading, while the transition to electric mobility is associated with economic risks due to China's control over large parts of the value chain. A climate policy approach that is as technology-neutral as possible, on the other hand, would combine short- and long-term cost efficiency with strong incentives for innovation, according to the critics' argument. Conversely, advocates of technology-specific policy instruments emphasize that progress can only be achieved quickly enough and path dependencies be overcome through targeted support measures.

This discussion paper addresses this debate from an economic perspective and is intended to serve as a stimulus for the discussions at the conference organized by SDA-Bocconi in cooperation with ECCO and Agora Verkehrswende on 16 October 2024 in Milan.

The following **Chapter 2** begins by briefly laying the conceptual foundations and outlining the arguments in favour of a policy approach that is as technology-neutral as possible. **Chapter 3** examines the "other side," it highlights the shortcomings of carbon pricing as a stand-alone technology-neutral climate policy and presents the economic rationale for technology-specific interventions in the road transport sector. **Chapter 4** reflects discussions of CO₂ pricing versus CO₂ standards from a political-economic perspective, and **Chapter 5** reports a very brief assessment of the CO₂ fleet limits in the context of European green industrial policy. **Chapter 6** delves into the debate on further developing the regulatory framework, evaluating some of the most prominent proposals for the CO₂ regulation's future, which will also be discussed further at the conference.

2. Carbon pricing as the technology-neutral silver bullet to the decarbonization challenge?

2.1 Reemergence of an economic controversy: technology-neutrality vs technologyspecificity

The debate on the merits and weaknesses of technology neutrality versus technology specificity in environmental regulation – particularly in the context of efforts to address climate change – has (re-)gained prominence in recent years. The centre of these discussions has shifted from energy supply to the demand side, with a particular spotlight on the transport sector: While in the past the focus was often on the right policy approach to decarbonizing the generation of electricity, the drivetrain transition in the transport sector has recently become the focal point of the debate. Environmental and economic policy agrees in principle on the need to transition away from carbon-intensive technologies, prompting discussions on the most effective regulatory frameworks to incentivize this transition. Two competing approaches—technology neutrality and technology specificity—offer different pathways for pursuing environmental objectives.

2.2 The case for technology neutrality: What does technology neutrality mean and what are its merits?

Technology neutrality in environmental regulation is based on the idea that regulators should restrain themselves to setting clear policy objectives (such as reducing carbon emissions) without—more or less mandatorily—prescribing the specific technologies to achieve them. Instead, the choice of technologies is left to the private sector, allowing firms and consumers to leverage their decentralized knowledge of the costs and benefits of different solutions. Technology specificity , on the other hand, refers to a regulatory approach that deliberately targets particular technologies or technological pathways to achieve a policy objective. In contrast to technology-neutral regulation, technologyspecific regulation either promotes or restricts the use of certain technologies. This approach may be adopted when the government or regulator has identified certain technologies as more likely to achieve long-term policy goals (e.g., decarbonization) and wishes to accelerate their adoption. The discrimination among technologies can take various forms, reaching from subsidies for preferred technologies to outright bans of less desired technologies.

According to advocates of the regulatory principle of technology neutrality, this approach fosters more efficient and innovative solutions, as market participants are typically better equipped to evaluate and select the most suitable options. By concentrating on outcomes rather than prescribing methods, technology-neutral regulation reduces the risk associated with government interference in technology selection. Advocates argue that when governments attempt to "pick winners," they may inadvertently lock in suboptimal solutions, especially when influenced by political biases or limited knowledge. A technology-neutral framework, by contrast, encourages open competition, allowing the market to identify the most cost-effective pathways for meeting environmental targets. This creates an environment that supports continuous innovation and adapts to new technological developments.

In a broader sense, technology neutrality applies not only to the selection of technologies but also to behavioral adjustments. In the transport context, consumers might, for example, choose to reduce energy consumption by adjusting their transport activity level or through modal shift instead of adopting new technologies. This flexibility broadens the range of possible solutions, allowing both technological innovation and changes in behavior to play a role in achieving environmental goals. As a result, technology-neutral policies create a more adaptable and comprehensive framework for addressing environmental challenges.

2.3 Carbon pricing as the prototypical technology-neutral policy

The realm of climate protection provides a policy instrument often considered almost prototypical for technology neutrality: carbon pricing. By internalizing the external cost of GHG emissions (not necessarily to the full extent of the actual social cost of carbon), it creates uniform incentives across all emitters and technologies without prescribing specific solutions. Through mechanisms like carbon taxes or emissions trading systems, carbon pricing allows firms and consumers to choose the least-cost ways to reduce emissions, enabling market forces to guide technological choices and behavioral adjustments. By applying the same price across emission sources, the marginal abatement costs are equalized across all emitters of GHG, fully tapping efficiency potentials and promoting cost-effective emission reductions. Hence, carbon pricing achieves emission reductions where they are most feasible. The flexibility of carbon pricing lies in its ability to provide incentives for emitters to find their own optimal methods of mitigation, whether through adopting new technologies, improving processes, or changing behaviors—and to adapt their mitigation strategies as soon as circumstances change. This would not only minimizes overall costs but also foster dynamic efficiency by encouraging ongoing innovation as firms continually seek to reduce their carbon-related expenses.

It should be noted here, however, that carbon pricing is also not truly technology-neutral, at least if the intended policy outcome is the reduction of global warming (with the reduction of CO_2 emissions being merely a means to that end). Other options for combating warming—such as reducing non-priced GHG, building carbon sinks, or geoengineering approaches—would not be covered. The focus on CO_2 emissions and potentially selected other greenhouse gases would already represent a limitation of the solution space, thus deviating from full technology neutrality.

2.4 Rational actors and perfect competition as requirements for superiority of technology-neutral climate policy

The theoretical superiority of carbon pricing as a technology-neutral policy for reducing GHG emissions, yet, comes with significant caveats. Its claimed cost-effectiveness relies on several highly restrictive assumptions that are rarely satisfied in real-world settings. For carbon pricing to function optimally, it presupposes a perfectly working, competitive market where firms and consumers act fully rational based on perfect information, responding efficiently to price signals by minimizing costs and maximizing utility. This idealized scenario also requires that all external costs—such as environmental damages—as well as positive externalities are fully internalized, and that market distortions such as excessive market power, pre-existing distorting regulations, or (institutional) lock-ins through vested interest are absent. Under these conditions, firms—and consumers—would reduce emissions where it is cheapest, and the most cost-effective technologies would naturally prevail across sectors. However, in reality, markets deviate significantly from this ideal. As the next section will set out in more detail, market imperfections such as various externalities, information asymmetries, consumer short-sightedness, coordination problems, and entrenched technological infrastructures distort market responses, may well lead to inefficient outcomes of climate policy that is largely confined to carbon pricing.

BOX: Technology openness is not the same as technology neutrality

To distinguish between the terms technology neutrality and technology openness, we refer to the approach in Agora Verkehrswende (2020). Technology openness refers to the required conditions within a decision field (or market) that allow different technologies to compete fairly, without distortions. While it is often confused with technology neutrality and used synonymously, the two concepts are distinct. Technology neutrality is a characteristic of regulation, meaning that the regarded regulatory framework does not favour specific technologies but lets market forces determine the solutions. However, even with technology-neutral regulation, true technology openness—i.e. fair technological competition—may not exist if the market is distorted by non-internalized externalities, path dependencies, or institutional and behavioral barriers.

A market is considered technology-open when all technological options are evaluated on the basis of their true economic costs and benefits, free from these distortions. Factors like entrenched infrastructure supporting fossil fuels, non-internalized environmental costs, or consumer biases can prevent new technologies, such as electric vehicles, from competing on a level playing field. To achieve technology openness, targeted regulatory interventions are often needed to correct these market distortions, ensuring that emerging, sustainable technologies have a fair chance to compete against established ones. This ensures that the market reflects the true long-term costs and benefits of each technology, fostering a competitive environment conducive to innovation and sustainable development. In reality, complete technology openness will never be fully achievable, but the goal of climate and economic policy should be to get as close as possible. This requires weighing the costs and risks of (technology-specific) measures aimed at increasing technology openness against the efficiency gains that such openness would bring about.

3. Market imperfections affecting vehicle technology choice

In the following, some of these market imperfections that may impair technology openness in the vehicle market and their ramifications for the cost-effectiveness of climate policy approaches are sketched out.

3.1 Positive externalities and why CO₂ pricing alone is insufficient to address them

While CO₂ pricing is an essential tool for internalizing the social cost of carbon emissions by making carbon-intensive activities more expensive, it is insufficient to address a variety of positive externalities that are inherent to the development and adoption of low-carbon technologies. These externalities, such as spillovers from R&D, learning-by-doing, learning-by-using, and network effects, represent benefits to society that the individual firm or consumer cannot fully capture. As CO₂ pricing is not well targeted to these externalities, underinvestment in innovation and slower-than-optimal diffusion of innovative, fuel-efficient technologies is a likely result.

R&D spillovers

R&D spillovers have significant implications for both the optimal fuel economy choice in general and the adoption of EV technology in particular. Due to these spillovers, the social returns from R&D typically exceed private returns, as firms cannot fully capture the benefits of their innovations. This leads to underinvestment in R&D because firms only consider their private returns, ignoring the positive externalities that spill over to other market actors. These spillovers occur when knowledge diffuses across firms, either through employee mobility, reverse engineering, or shared research networks, allowing competitors to benefit from innovations without incurring the same R&D costs. As a result, firms invest less in new technologies than would be socially optimal, leading to a slower rate of technological advancement and, specifically, suboptimal progress in fuel-efficient and EV technologies.

Although not being unique to clean technologies, this market imperfection is generally more pronounced in green innovations, where R&D returns are found to be higher – not at least due to their potential environmental and societal benefits. Carbon pricing alone, while effective at internalizing the cost of carbon emissions, is insufficient to correct this market distortion resulting from positive R&D externalities. The private sector's inability to fully capture the value of R&D spillovers means that carbon prices fail to account—from an innovator's perspective—for the broader societal gains from its innovation, resulting in less investment in long-term solutions like EVs. Hence, complementary policies such as targeted R&D subsidies and other forms of support for clean technologies can be warranted to accelerate innovation pace and achieve cost-effective emissions reductions.

Learning-by-doing spillovers

Learning-by-doing spillovers play an important role in the adoption of EVs. As manufacturers produce more EVs, their specific production costs tend to decrease due to accumulated experience and increased efficiencies—often referred to as the "learning curve." These cost reductions, however, do also not remain confined to individual firms ramping up their production levels; instead, they spill over to other manufacturers, lowering their costs as well. Competitors who adopt these technologies later can also reap the benefits without incurring the initially higher costs. As a result, early adopters could face a competitive disadvantage; at least, they cannot take full advantage of their technological avantgarde. Again, this externality leads to individual firms underinvest in EV technology roll-out because they cannot fully capture the economic benefits of their production experience. Without policy interventions that account for these learning spillovers, firms are likely to favour established technologies that are more cost-competitive in the short term due their accumulated production cost advantages. As a result, the market penetration of new, in the long-run superior technologies, like electric drivetrains, occurs more slowly than socially optimal. As with R&D externalities, carbon pricing

alone, while effective at internalizing the climate costs of carbon emissions, fails to overcome this underinvestment caused by learning-by-doing spillovers as it does not address the long-term learning potentials of innovative technologies. Complementary policies—such as temporary subsidies, ZEV mandates, or CO₂ standards—can accelerate the market uptake of EVs and stimulate the socially optimal level of initial investments that lead to broader cost reductions across the industry.

Learning-by-using spillovers

The demand-side counterpart of (supply-side) learning-by-doing externalities is spillovers from learning-by-using in technology adoption: early adopters create a positive externality for other consumers in the form of valuable information regarding the availability and performance of a new technology as well as how to implement, maintain, and use it. For example, early buyers of EVs generate valuable insights into the practicality, reliability, and durability of these vehicles or knowledge about cost-effective charging routines, which benefits future buyers by reducing their uncertainty and own learning efforts. High carbon prices might encourage some consumers to switch to lower-emission technologies, but it does not compensate these early adopters for the positive externalities they create; thus, without additional incentives, the rate of adoption may be too slow to create the socially desirable momentum for wider market acceptance. In addition to information campaigns to reduce EV-related uncertainties on the consumer side, financial purchase incentives for EVs—set explicitly or implicitly via ZEV mandates or CO_2 standards— can address this market barrier.

Network effects and complementarities

CO₂ pricing is particularly inadequate in overcoming barriers related to network effects and complementarities, especially in the case of electric vehicles and their required charging infrastructure. Network effects arise when the usage value of a product, increases as more people use it. For the case of EV roll-out, so-called indirect network effects primarily occur due to the development of complementary infrastructure such as charging stations. However, without enough vehicle users, firms may be reluctant to invest in this infrastructure, creating a "chicken-and-egg" problem where both vehicle manufacturers and infrastructure providers hesitate to invest unless the other party does so first—or at least commits to invests. Conversely, the already realized network effects of the established incumbent technology, given the dense network of fuel stations, tend to solidify its dominant position.

It becomes obvious that expectations about future market developments—i.e., how the network evolves—play a crucial role for current technology choice. Besides direct subsidies for early charging infrastructure build-up and regulations—such as the European AFID—that mandate a minimum level of alternative fuels infrastructure, instruments that give direction and provide some certainty about the future EV uptake (such as ZEV mandates and CO₂ standards) foster infrastructure investments and reinforce the growth of the electric mobility ecosystem. CO₂ pricing alone does not resolve this issue, as it fails to deliver this certainty because it intentionally leaves it open by which means emissions are reduced.

Summary: Timely technology transition needs targeted innovation-oriented instruments

While CO₂ pricing, e.g. through the ETS 2 commencing operation in 2027, is essential for internalizing the climate costs of GHG emissions, it is insufficient to address the positive externalities—R&D spillovers as well as learning and network effects—critical to low-carbon technology adoption. These market imperfections imply a gap between private returns, which drive decision-making, and societal returns; by preventing firms (and consumers) from fully realizing the benefits of their innovations, they slow the diffusion of clean technologies. To overcome these barriers, targeted interventions like (temporary) subsidies, CO₂ standards, and support for infrastructure investments are economically justified to complement carbon pricing. Without such policies, the transition to a low-carbon transport system will be slower and more costly than what is socially optimal.

3.2 Non-climate externalities from fossil fuel consumption

Beyond climate damage, fossil fuel consumption leads to several further externalities. Local pollutants like nitrous oxides, sulfur dioxide, and particulate matter contribute to respiratory diseases and other health problems, while extraction and transportation can cause oil spills and habitat destruction. Energy security risk is another potential externality related to fossil fuel consumption. Economies heavily reliant on imported fossil fuels are vulnerable to price shocks and geopolitical risks, which can lead to broader economic disruptions. Therefore, governments often bear costs associated with maintaining energy security, such as (military) expenditures to protect supply routes.

If these costs are not accounted for, they create a competitive disadvantage for fuel-efficient vehicles and EVs. This justifies, on the one hand, policy interventions beyond carbon pricing. On the other hand, some of these externalities can be addressed similarly to carbon pricing through a surcharge on fuel prices. This applies, for instance, to energy security externalities. However, addressing damages from air pollutant emissions is more complicated because these are often highly location-dependent, affecting citizens differently based on their proximity to emission sources. Furthermore, many of these pollutants are produced and cause harm irrespective of whether fossil or renewable fuels are combusted. Hence, policies that support drivetrain technologies free of tailpipe emissions prove effective in reducing these harms.

3.3 Institutional barriers to clean technology market development

This section highlights a selection of institutional and market environment barriers that constrain the effectiveness of carbon pricing in driving the most cost-efficient technological transformation in the car market. These barriers include information asymmetries, coordination problems, capital market imperfections, misaligned taxation incentives, and risk-averse firm behavior. Each of these issues distorts market dynamics and can hinder the optimal response to carbon pricing signals, underscoring the need for complementary policies to support a transition to more fuel-efficient vehicles.

Adverse selection: Lemons in the new vehicle market?

The concept of adverse selection helps explain how information asymmetries distort markets, including those for fuel-efficient technologies and EVs, and cause inefficiencies. If consumers lack adequate and reliable information about important product characteristics, such as about a vehicle's fuel economy and energy cost, there is no appropriate willingness to pay for them; as a result, the corresponding characteristic is both insufficiently demanded and supplied. In the new vehicle market in many countries, manufacturers and retailers must disclose fuel economy, expected fuel costs, and CO₂ emissions, but these figures often differ from actual on-road performance. Despite this inaccuracy, consumers can still make relative comparisons, reducing the impact of adverse selection.

In the used vehicle market, however, there are often no equivalent disclosure requirements. Without reliable fuel economy data, buyers undervalue fuel-efficient used cars, creating an adverse selection problem. This undervaluation feeds back into the new vehicle market via the resale value, reducing the willingness of first-hand buyers to pay for fuel-efficient technologies if they cannot capitalize on higher future resale prices of efficient vehicles.

Of course, the most straightforward approach to address this issue is improving the accuracy and transparency of fuel economy and energy cost data in both new and used vehicle markets. Mandatory disclosure of fuel consumption and better testing procedures can mitigate adverse selection. Given remaining limitations to information policies, CO₂ standards can still also make a contribution to overcoming the negative impacts of adverse selection by mandating continuous improvements in the vehicle fleets' energy efficiency.

Distortions from company car taxation

In several countries, a major share of the entire new vehicle market is purchased as company cars; they account for almost 60 percent of all new car sales in the EU. Preferential taxation regulations for company cars (e.g., deductibility of fuel costs, lump-sum benefit-in-kind taxation) can possibly constitute another barrier, unfolding multiple adverse effects on the energy efficiency and overall environmental performance of the overall vehicle fleet.

Since the purchase costs and the fuel expenses for company cars are tax-deductible, companies tend to acquire larger, more powerful, and consequently more fuel-consuming cars than private buyers. While fuel expenses for private vehicle usage are regularly billed on the company and tax-deductible, employees often pay a lump-sum tax for private usage based on the car's retail price. This creates a twofold disincentive for energy-saving technologies when employees can choose their company car: they may well disregard fuel costs in their decision process rationale and forego available fuel-saving technologies that would increase the retail price of the company car (e.g., electric drivetrain) and thus their tax payments. In consequence, employees will mainly demand vehicle attributes other than energy efficiency. This is underscored by vehicle registration data for the EU that shows a positive correlation between vehicle size and the share of registrations as company cars in the respective vehicle class. Furthermore, these characteristics of company cars may shape consumers' preferences in the private vehicle market. If the features of company cars (regarding size, engine power, luxury amenities etc.) become the reference point, consumers could develop an aversion towards "downgrading" in these vehicle properties and be reluctant to purchase smaller, more fuel-efficient vehicles for private purposes. Finally, as company cars are regularly resold after a few years; they largely determine the fuel economy levels available in the used car market some years down the road. While carbon pricing does not remedy the underlying misaligned tax incentives, neither do fuel

efficiency standards address the root cause; they can only mitigate the adverse effects to some degree. Revising company car taxation schemes, as already done in the meantime in several countries, would quite obviously—be a more effective (and socially more just) solution, aligning incentives with environmental goals and promoting the adoption innovative technologies.

Capital market imperfections

Many new vehicle purchases are financed through loans, and the higher upfront costs of EVs can complicate financing. While better energy efficiency of EVs reduces future energy and CO₂ costs, thereby improving a borrower's ability to repay, lenders may not account for this due to information asymmetries and transaction costs. Assessing the reduced credit risk associated with fuel-efficient vehicles may not be cost-effective for lenders, and uncertainties regarding the resale value of EVs add further risk. Higher financing costs for EVs may result, slowing their adoption. Even though carbon pricing makes fuel more expensive, consumers might still opt for cheaper, less efficient vehicles due to financing constraints. Debt aversion presents another potential challenge, where consumers are hesitant to take out loans even when the expected fuel savings would more than cover the loan costs. This reluctance can also possibly deter buyers from opting for fuel-efficient EVs, particularly when conventional vehicles do not require financing. Solutions like loan guarantees or supported (social) leasing programs may be more effective in addressing these financing challenges than CO₂ standards, however. Overall, while capital market imperfections can affect EV adoption, they do not seem to be a major obstacle in the current market context.

On the supply side of the vehicle market, capital market imperfections are thought to potentially hinder capital-intensive R&D activities as well as the realization of increasing returns (e.g., learning effects, economies of scale) in the production of fuel-efficient vehicles through setting up large-scale manufacturing facilities and penetration pricing. Yet, the question arises why – particularly for investments in clean vehicles – the capital market would not provide the required funds (for expectedly beneficial investment projects) at adequate conditions. For high-stake industrial investments, the (transaction) costs for evaluating the investment project's financial prospects are

small (relative to the lending/investment volume) compared to consumer credits. It may well be true that credibility and commitment issues concerning the government's pursuit of long-term climate goals heighten lending and investment risks, thereby reducing the willingness to provide funds or leading to higher demanded interest rates. Is this the case, CO₂ standards can help to drive down demanded interest for electrification investment projects through increasing the investment's expected profitability and reducing its risks. However, this would not reflect a genuine deficiency in the capital market but rather a political shortcoming (see chapter 4); hence, it remains ambiguous whether capital market imperfections systemically inhibit the development and deployment of innovative vehicle technologies.

Market power as a potential innovation obstacle

Market power in the vehicle industry can also present a barrier to the adoption of EVs and fuel efficiency technologies if dominant manufacturers, particularly those invested in conventional vehicles, may delay introducing innovative—electric—drivetrains to protect their existing market and avoid network effects that benefit new competitors. Moreover, large incumbents with lobbying power can try to hinder smaller, innovative firms from entering the market via regulatory channels.

Firms with considerable market power may also engage in price discrimination by offering different levels of fuel efficiency and technological innovation based on consumers' willingness to pay. This can lead to suboptimal fleet-wide fuel efficiency, particularly disadvantaging lower-income consumers, as fuel-efficient technologies are withheld or underprovided for certain market segments (particularly smaller and cheaper cars). Notwithstanding, a certain—moderate—market concentration also has positive impacts on innovation activities. Whereas consolidated monopolistic as well as an atomistic market structure normally hinder innovation, some degree of market concentration is regularly most fruitful with respect to dynamic product development processes. This is because competitive incentives remain, while barriers related to spillovers as well as to insufficient funding of R&D and for pre-financing increasing returns of learning-by-doing are less of an issue; with some degree of market concentration, both effects strike a balance.

The strategic behaviors of (too) powerful firms, such as potentially withholding technologies or price discrimination, is not addressed by carbon pricing. Fuel efficiency standards—although minimum standards more than fleet-average standards—can be more effective in advancing efficiency progress, as they limit the ability of firms to strategically offer suboptimal fuel efficiency across different market segments. However, minimum standards can reduce manufacturers' flexibility and may also slow innovation to some degree by not incentivizing improvements beyond the minimum requirements.

Coordination challenges

Transitioning to new technologies, such as electric drivetrains, often requires significant coordination due to the interdependence and complementarity of various inputs and the realization of increasing returns (learning and network effects, economies of scale). New technologies become cost-effective sooner when produced at scale, but vehicle manufacturers and suppliers of complementary products may hesitate to make the necessary early investments due to high upfront costs and uncertain market developments. In particular, penetration pricing—where early sales are priced below production costs to accelerate market adoption—can be crucial for realizing increasing returns but may pose financial risks. Individual manufacturers may lack the resources or willingness to bear these risks alone. Horizontal coordination, such as joint ventures for establishing shared platforms or R&D collaboration, can help distribute the financial burden and accelerate the rollout of new vehicle technologies. Fuel efficiency standards can provide limited support by signalling the need for joint advancement of innovative technologies.

Vertical coordination is equally important, especially in synchronizing the rollout of EVs with the development of complementary infrastructure, such as charging stations. Without such—not necessarily formal—coordination, manufacturers may delay commercialization, and energy suppliers

may hesitate to build infrastructure due to uncertain demand. Public interventions, including infrastructure subsidies as well as direct or indirect mandates for minimum EV market shares via quotas or CO_2 standards, can help resolve this "chicken-and-egg" problem.

Beyond technological challenges, the transition faces institutional barriers. The existing "technoinstitutional complex," which includes entrenched interests, legal frameworks, and educational systems favouring incumbent technologies, can resist change. Overcoming these barriers requires broad, coordinated efforts, including adjustments to educational curricula, redirecting public R&D funds, and reforming legal frameworks.

Risk-averse firm behavior and managerial incentives

Established firms, also vehicle manufacturers, often demonstrate risk-averse behavior that impedes the adoption of innovative, fuel-efficient technologies such as electric drivetrains. This reluctance to take entrepreneurial risks can be linked to principal-agent problems, where managers prioritize shortterm financial outcomes over long-term investments in R&D or production capacities for innovative technologies. Managers, who are evaluated on annual performance metrics such as annual profit, stock prices or dividends, may avoid investing in new technologies that offer substantial long-term benefits but entail short-term risks or uncertain returns. This behavior is consistent with managerial economics research, which highlights how misaligned incentives lead managers to favour immediate gains over long-term corporate value maximization.

Uncertainty surrounding future carbon pricing and regulatory frameworks further exacerbates this aversion to take short-term risks. The unpredictability of emissions trading schemes or potential changes in environmental policy can deter firms from committing to green technologies, as the potential for future returns becomes more uncertain. Without clear signals from regulators, firms may fear that investments in fuel-efficient technologies, particularly EVs, could become unprofitable, further disincentivizing long-term planning. Moreover, if uncertainties also arise from a lack of policy credibility, and future policies are influenced by current firm behavior, there may even be a risk of strategic investment reluctance (see Chapter 4).

Governments can address these barriers by ensuring regulatory certainty through reliable emissions standards with clear near-term compliance requirements and ambitious long-term targets—in addition to stable carbon pricing mechanisms. Research suggests that when firms are given clear regulatory targets, they are more likely to invest in innovation, as the risks associated with such investments are reduced. Thereby, and through other measures like mandating the disclosure of carbon risks, regulation can help align managerial decision-making with the firm's financial objectives and long-term environmental goals that benefit society as a whole.

Summary

A number of institutional, structural, and regulatory factors in the vehicle market—e.g., information asymmetries, coordination problems, and misaligned incentives—can act as barriers that prevent consumers and manufacturers from responding optimally to CO_2 price signals. As a result, complementary policies—such as improved information disclosure, financial support for initial infrastructure investments, taxation reform—are necessary to ensure that climate policy leads to more efficient outcomes in the vehicle market. For CO_2 standards, there is also a rationale for them to serve as a pillar in the policy mix, acting as a robust guardrail that guides the necessary technological transformation.

3.4 Behavioral barriers to EV and fuel economy adoption

The transition to more fuel-efficient vehicles, particularly EVs, is hampered not only by misaligned incentives, institutional obstacles, coordination challenges and different kinds of externalities, but also by behavioral barriers. Traditional economic models assume that consumers make rational decisions by fully accounting for both the upfront costs and the long-term operational costs associated with

innovative, fuel-efficient technologies and their conventional alternatives. Under this assumption, carbon pricing mechanisms—such as taxes or cap-and-trade systems—should effectively incentivize consumers to purchase cleaner, more efficient vehicles by increasing the cost of fuel and enhancing the financial benefits of fuel efficiency.

However, empirical evidence suggests that real-world consumer behavior often deviates from this rational model due to various behavioral anomalies. These cognitive biases and decision-making heuristics tend to lead consumers to undervalue future energy cost savings and overemphasize immediate costs and benefits. As a result, carbon pricing alone is insufficient to drive optimal adoption rates of fuel-efficient vehicles and technologies, even if they are generally available. This chapter highlights some key behavioral anomalies affecting vehicle purchase decisions. It also briefly discusses why additional policy interventions are necessary to address these behavioral barriers.

Loss Aversion, endowment effects, and status quo bias

Loss aversion, a concept from behavioral economics and an empirically well-documented phenomenon, describes individuals' tendency to perceive losses as more painful than equivalent gains are pleasurable. This amplifies the decision weight of perceived losses, often implying endowment effects or a status quo bias. Individuals assign higher value to items they mentally or physically own, making them reluctant to part with these items without substantial compensation. These biases can deter consumers from adopting fuel-efficient vehicles like EVs. In the financial dimension of vehicle purchases, higher upfront costs may be perceived as immediate and significant losses (when compared to the price of a conventional car), outweighing potential long-term savings from lower operating costs, even when carbon pricing increases the relative cost of less efficient options.

In the hedonic dimension, loss aversion heavily influences consumers' preferences for sensory and performance-related vehicle attributes, such as comfort, size, or acceleration, as well as range and refuelling or recharging time. If consumers are accustomed to certain vehicle features due to prior ownership or use of a company car—resulting in emotional attachment and mental endowment—they tend to be reluctant to forgo these attributes, perceiving their absence as a loss. This makes the less tangible benefit of fuel efficiency less appealing. Consequently, consumers often prioritize hedonic attributes over fuel economy in vehicle purchase decisions, again posing challenges to the adoption of EVs. These challenges are further exacerbated when concerns like range anxiety or limited charging infrastructure are prominently discussed in public discourse.

It is important to emphasize that the disproportionate decision weight placed on foregone vehicle traits (or on the higher purchase price), as described here, does not correspond to an equally strong impact on the actual utility experienced over the vehicle's lifetime. Then, the exaggerated focus on "lost attributes" leads to inefficient decisions.

Narrow bracketing, money fungibility, and mental accounting

Narrow bracketing is a cognitive bias where individuals make decisions in isolated mental "accounts," without considering the broader context or long-term implications. This often manifests as mental accounting, where people categorize and treat money differently based on arbitrary classifications, rather than viewing all money as fungible and interchangeable.

In vehicle purchasing, consumers frequently focus narrowly on the purchase price, treating it as a separate mental account from future operating costs like fuel expenses. This segmentation can lead them to undervalue the long-term savings from fuel efficient EVs because they do not integrate these savings into their overall financial evaluation of the vehicle. Carbon pricing increases future fuel costs but does not affect the vehicle's purchase price. If consumers are narrowly focusing on the upfront cost and treating different expenditures as non-fungible, the higher future fuel expenses of a combustion vehicle do not (appropriately) influence their immediate purchase decisions in a way that best caters their own financial interest.

Salience effects

Salience effects occur when individuals disproportionately focus on information or attributes that are more prominent or easier to observe (or to experience) when making a decision, often neglecting less noticeable but important factors. In car purchases, highly salient attributes include the sticker price, brand reputation, design, and performance features such as horsepower and acceleration. Conversely, long-term fuel savings and environmental impacts are less visible and receive less attention.

Consumers may then find it easier to compare vehicles based on these immediate, salient features rather than complex calculations of future energy cost savings. The cognitive effort required to assess lifetime costs is higher, and without salient cues, consumers may default to simpler criteria. Although carbon pricing increases fuel costs gradually, it does not substantially enhance the immediate visibility of fuel efficiency benefits at the time of purchase. As a result, consumers may continue to prioritize salient features over fuel economy, even when fuel costs are higher. Again, EV adoption particularly suffers from this bias. A Well-designed efficiency label can improve the salience of energy efficiency properties and their cost implications, thereby attenuating this bias, but they still remain less tangible than other vehicle characteristics.

Discounting anomalies and short-sighted decision-making

Discounting anomalies can significantly influence vehicle purchase decisions, particularly regarding fuel economy. Unlike standard discounted utility theory, which assumes stable and rational discount rates, consumers may exhibit quasi-hyperbolic discounting. Hyperbolic discounting describes the tendency of individuals to prefer smaller, immediate rewards over larger, delayed ones, with the preference for immediacy diminishing over longer time horizons. In contrast to the exponential discounting assumed in traditional economic models—where the discount rate remains constant—hyperbolic discounting leads to time-inconsistent preferences. When buying a car, the immediate gratification from a lower purchase price or desirable vehicle features (particularly status-conveying features) then outweigh the benefits of long-term savings on fuel expenses. Besides higher monetary upfront cost, switching to an EV can go along with higher non-financial effort—e.g., installing a wallbox, finding public charging stations or securing a suitable electricity supplier. These immediate non-monetary costs, amplified by immediacy effects, further impede market uptake.

The framing of fuel cost savings also plays a crucial role in intertemporal decision-making. If the returns from a fuel efficiency investment are seen as small, dispersed, and uncertain-in-magnitude gains spread over several years, they will be heavily discounted in consumers' decision-making processes, reducing their perceived utility. In contrast, aggregating these savings over the vehicle's expected lifetime or ownership period and framing them as avoided losses (that would be incurred with a conventional car due its higher fuel costs) could potentially increase their decision weight; obligations to present energy cost implications in such a manner—through efficiency labels, for instance—may help to this end. Also, leasing options or installment payments might to some degree mitigate the immediacy effect working against efficiency investments. Still, discounting anomalies tend to hinder the adoption of efficiency technologies, even if it is economically rational over the vehicle's lifetime.

Bounded rationality and rational inattention

In addition to the behavioral biases depicted above that lead to distorted, non-rational decisions, in principle rational decision-making—albeit constraint by cognitive limitations—can also result in underinvestment in EVs and fuel-efficiency technologies. The inherent complexity of vehicle purchase decisions exacerbates the issue of bounded rationality. Buying a car involves weighing multiple attributes—i.a., performance, comfort, fuel economy, and price—often under uncertainty about future fuel prices, maintenance costs, and resale values. Given this multitude of factors, many consumers find it cognitively taxing to calculate the total cost of ownership for the available vehicle options.

As a result, consumers may rely on simplified decision-making heuristics. To conserve cognitive resources, they often focus disproportionately on immediate costs, such as the vehicle's sticker price, while neglecting long-term operational savings. This behavior is closely tied to the concept of rational inattention, which occurs when consumers deliberately ignore or simplify complex information that requires significant cognitive effort to process. Even when the future fuel savings and reduced carbon costs of an energy-efficient vehicle model could prove economically beneficial, gathering and analyzing information on these benefits may be perceived as too costly in terms of time and mental energy. Additionally, consumers may lack sufficiently credible, accurate information about fuel efficiency and may not fully trust the available data, leading to scepticism about potential savings. In consequence, consumers may rationally choose to overlook the long-term advantages of fuel-efficient EVs, leading to a systematic undervaluation of these technologies.

Summary

While carbon pricing is a fundamental tool for internalizing the external costs of GHG emissions, its environmental and cost-effectiveness is limited by the behavioral anomalies outlined above. As empirically evidenced, consumers' decision-making processes do not always respond to price signals in the rational manner assumed by traditional economic models. Behavioral biases and bounded rationality can lead to systematic underinvestment in fuel-efficient technologies and suboptimal adoption rates of EVs, even if such investments are economically advantageous over the long term. These issues necessitate a multifaceted policy approach that combines carbon pricing with other interventions to address behavioral barriers in a targeted manner.

The highlighted behavioral barriers essentially come down to the same effect: they result in consumers being deterred by high upfront costs and failing to adequately value long-term benefits. CO₂ standards can then make a contribution towards overcoming these barriers. The CO₂ standards cause manufacturers to set up an internal feebate (or bonus-malus-scheme), penalizing CO₂-intensive vehicles and subsidizing low-emission vehicles such as EVs, in order to manage their sales so that they comply with the regulation. Thereby, CO₂ standards can better link the vehicle choice with immediate financial consequences, making future operating costs more tangible in the present decision context. Moreover, through mandating a certain progress in overall energy efficiency of the new vehicle fleet, the potential negative impact of behavioral anomalies is mitigated.

3.5 Conclusion: the need for a policy mix to overcome barriers to EV adoption

In theory, carbon pricing creates cost-effective incentives for reducing emissions, but in real-world contexts, it cannot fully overcome obstacles to the development and adoption of low-carbon technologies. Thus, even with carbon pricing in place, the adoption of EVs and fuel-efficiency technologies faces numerous barriers that hinder their market penetration. These barriers limit the environmental and cost-effectiveness of a climate policy that relies mostly or exclusively on carbon pricing. Although it is clear that the ideal conditions required to make carbon pricing effective as a stand-alone policy are not met in reality, this does not provide an economic justification for technology-specific interventions of any kind. On the one hand, technology-specific instruments must always be tailored to the nature and extent of the specific market imperfections present. On the other hand, such interventions can themselves create new inefficiencies, particularly when there are informational deficits on the part of the regulator, or when interventions are influenced by political or lobbying interests. Ultimately, a careful trade-off is always necessary between the potential efficiency gains and the risks associated with the various potential interventions.

Although its ability to drive the adoption of EVs and fuel-efficient technologies is constrained by various market imperfections, it is important to emphasize that carbon pricing is still crucial for internalizing the—in their magnitude not exactly known—social cost of carbon emissions. Given the diverse nature of barriers laid out above, a well-balanced policy mix is essential to complement carbon pricing. Beyond a CO₂ pricing scheme, this mix should include targeted R&D support, initial public financial backing for

charging infrastructure, improved transparency through information obligations, and reforms to the fiscal framework. Such a combination of policies can more effectively address the structural and behavioral obstacles that prevent widespread EV adoption and drive the transformation of the car market in due pace.

The role of CO₂ standards in the policy mix

In this policy mix, CO₂ standards play a critical role. Over more than ten years, they have established themselves as a credible and reliable policy instrument, offering planning certainty to vehicle manufacturers and suppliers of complementary goods like charging infrastructure. By setting clear, long-term emissions targets, the European CO₂ standards reduce investment risks and provide the stability needed for firms to commit to large-scale transitions, such as building EV production lines or expanding charging networks. Eventually, through pushing manufacturers to meet strict emission targets, the standards indirectly mandate a certain share of EVs in the new vehicle market.

To comply with the standards, firms will regularly set up implicit feebate systems, subsidizing the sale of EVs while penalizing CO_2 -intensive vehicles. This internal cross-subsidization makes EVs more affordable, countering the upfront cost barriers that deter consumers from purchasing them. In doing so, CO_2 standards help accelerate the adoption of technologies that generate positive externalities.

In conclusion, while CO_2 standards are not a silver bullet, neither is carbon pricing. Both instruments play complementary roles in the climate policy framework. Rather than debating the abandonment of CO_2 standards in favour of carbon pricing alone, targeted reforms should be pursued to enhance their effectiveness and better leverage synergies. These reforms must retain the core structure of the European CO_2 standards, however, to avoid undermining their credibility (see next chapter). The predictability they provide is crucial for investment and planning, and weakening that certainty could jeopardize the long-term success of the EV transition.

On the difficulty to find the right carbon price in the presence of market imperfections

While an indispensable part of the policy mix, it remains true that no single CO_2 price can simultaneously achieve optimal long-term technology adoption and short-term behavioral adjustments if market imperfections—such as spillovers, consumer biases, or misaligned incentives undermine the effectiveness of carbon pricing. In a world without market imperfections, the solution would be straightforward: setting the carbon price at the marginal damage cost or marginal abatement cost (as per the Baumol-Oates price-quantity framework) would yield the cost-minimal abatement mix. However, in the presence of market imperfections, particularly behavioral biases, there is no first-best CO₂ price capable of delivering optimal GHG mitigation. Without complementary instruments, market imperfections necessitate high carbon prices to promote low-carbon technology adoption-for instance, to encourage consumers to purchase electric vehicles. However, such elevated prices could also induce excessive short-term behavioral responses, such as reducing travel beyond economically efficient levels. Thus, a carbon price high enough to stimulate technological innovation might overshoot what is necessary to influence less-distorted behaviors, leading to suboptimal outcomesand vice versa. If consumers undervalue fuel economy and carbon pricing were the only available policy instrument, a third-best carbon price would have to strike a balance between incentivizing demand for fuel efficiency and containing welfare losses due to distorted driving decisions. Even with complementary policies in place to address market imperfections, it remains nearly impossible to set a carbon price that simultaneously incentivizes optimal investment and travel behavior decisions. For example, in the presence of heterogeneity in how consumers undervalue future fuel costs, a carefully calibrated compromise must be found to balance-inevitably remaining-distortions between technology adoption and mobility behavior.

4. Political-economic considerations

This chapter briefly explores the discussion around a potential relaxation of CO_2 fleet limits as well as the relationship between carbon pricing and efficiency regulation from a political-economic angle.

4.1 Challenge from time-inconsistent regulatory behavior

One of the fundamental challenges for environmentally and cost-effective climate regulation is timeinconsistent decision-making by regulators. This occurs when regulators, often under economic or political pressures, retrospectively revise previously established environmental policies. Such ex-post changes can undermine the credibility and long-term effectiveness of climate policies, jeopardizing the achievement of climate goals when measures designed to reduce GHG emissions are diluted or postponed.

Pressure from firms that have not taken timely action to meet emission reduction targets is a primary reason for time-inconsistent behavior among regulators. When firms fall short of their targets—or are about to do so--due to inadequate early-on mitigation efforts, they face the prospect of high costs from penalties or the need for rapid, drastic emissions reductions. To avoid these costs, firms exert considerable lobbying pressure on regulators to relax the rules. This pressure intensifies the longer companies delay action, as the eventual costs become higher and the incentives to seek regulatory easing grow stronger.

4.2 Credibility as a key success factor

When firms anticipate the possibility of regulatory adjustments in response to slow environmental progress, they may even strategically withhold investments in improved fuel efficiency. This approach—requiring some degree of market and political power—them to save on abatement costs in the short term, while avoiding the potentially high costs and disruptions associated with a delayed but rapid ramp-up of efforts if targets are actually relaxed. Such strategic non-compliance, or ratchet effects (in a broader sense), undermine the achievement of climate policy goals and could also result in even greater costs in the more distant future. This is particularly true if the industry is forced to scramble to eventually meet inevitable long-term GHG mitigation obligations.

Therefore, credibility plays a crucial role in the environmental and cost-effectiveness of climate policies. When regulations are credible from the beginning—that is, when stakeholders believe that ex-post changes (particularly with regard to overall stringency) will not occur—firms and consumers are more likely to take timely action to reduce emissions. This proactive behavior reduces the risk of actual ex-post regulatory changes that result from insufficient mitigation efforts at the outset. Conveying credibility ex-ante through firm and predictable policies helps minimize the likelihood of time inconsistency by encouraging early compliance and investment in low-emission technologies. Conversely, without credibility, firms and consumers may delay or avoid making necessary investments, undermining the entire policy framework. Importantly, the capability of conveying credibility of (new) regulations hinges on the regulator's record of past behavior.

4.3 Vulnerability to time-inconsistency: regulatory approaches vs. market-based instruments

In the current debate over postponing or relaxing European CO₂ standards, some economists argue that regulatory approaches like CO₂ standards and command-and-control measures in general are more vulnerable to time-inconsistent behavior by regulators than market-based pricing instruments. These critics claim that regulations are less apt to accommodate unexpected developments and that their inflexibility—potentially causing sharp increases in abatement costs in the event of slower-than-anticipated progress—makes them more susceptible to political pressure. Moreover, the large and diffuse group of affected emitters would make coordinated efforts to weaken climate policy measures

more difficult in the case of carbon pricing instruments. Thus, they deem pricing instruments such as the ETS 2 preferable not only because of their alleged greater cost-effectiveness resulting from mitigation flexibility but also due to their perceived resilience to political interference, providing stronger long-term emission reduction incentives. Some even suggest abandoning fleet CO₂ standards entirely in favour of managing transportation sector emissions exclusively through the ETS 2.

Yet, the threat of time inconsistency stemming from a lack of (ex-ante) credibility is inherent in both regulatory and market-based environmental policies. There are reasons to argue that carbon pricing mechanisms may actually be equally or even more vulnerable to time inconsistency. Despite an emission cap set several years in advance and price stabilizing measures like the Market Stability Reserve in the ETS 2, political pressure to ex-post weaken the emissions cap can arise if carbon prices increase sharply. Businesses, citizens, and political parties may lobby for the cap to be loosened, undermining the effectiveness and efficiency of the trading system.

Moreover, carbon pricing also faces a "double" time-inconsistency challenge. Private decisionmakers—particularly private consumers but also firms—often exhibit time-inconsistent myopic behavior, focusing on short-term cost savings over long-term benefits (see chapter 3.3). For example, in the absence of instruments complementing carbon pricing, consumers might opt for cheaper, less energy-efficient vehicles, while firms delay investing in cleaner technologies. This myopia results in higher short-term emissions and a lock-in to CO₂-intensive technologies, which exacerbates the scarcity of emissions allowances and drives up their prices.. As prices rise, political pressure to ease the emissions cap grows. In this way, the time inconsistency of private actors compounds that of political regulators, potentially creating a reinforcing cycle that finally weakens climate policy.

Thus, the argument that carbon pricing mechanisms are inherently more politically credible and less vulnerable to time-inconsistent interventions than regulatory approaches like CO₂ standards appears flawed. Neither carbon pricing nor fleet standards are immune to political (adverse) interference; of course, some interventions can be economically well-justified in light of new information. Eventually, the effectiveness and efficiency of any climate policy depend critically on its detailed design and the ability to maintain commitment over time.

Incidentally, it should be noted that fleet CO_2 standards are not purely command-and-control instruments. They actually possess characteristics of market-based quantity instruments. By regulating the specific CO_2 emissions at the manufacturer level, they allow flexibility through averaging within a firm's fleet; moreover, the pooling option provides (limited) tradability with other manufacturers.

4.4 Time consistency through a well-balanced policy mix

A well-balanced policy mix emerges as a solution to the credibility and time-consistency problem. Thoughtful coordination of the instruments is essential to harness synergies and minimize adverse interference to the greatest extent possible. Such a mix not only addresses the various market imperfections described above more effectively than a rather mono-instrumental policy approach, leverage the specific strengths of each instrument—it also enhances the resilience and credibility in climate policy. A diversified set of policy instruments provides multiple levers to achieve emissions reductions, increasing the likelihood of meeting environmental targets. Additionally, a policy mix implicitly creates a "safety net" that can cushion the impact of weakening of a single policy instrument weakened due to political pressure or other factors; other instruments can—at least partially—compensate to widely maintain overall environmental effectiveness as well as incentives for the required technological transition.

4.5 Conclusion

In conclusion, the issue of time inconsistency and lacking credibility poses a significant threat to the effectiveness of both regulatory and market-based climate policy instruments. Maintaining credibility is essential for the success of climate policies. Only firm, predictable regulations enable businesses and

consumers to make the necessary investments to meet climate targets in a cost-effective manner. The pressure to dilute or delay measures—driven by both political and private interests—must be countered by strong policy commitments, robust institutional frameworks, and mechanisms capable of withstanding lobbying pressures. Moreover, the instrumental design should aim to eliminate incentives for strategic non-compliance and mitigate the ratchet effect. For CO₂ standards, for example, having more frequent interim targets rather than increasing stringency in 5-year increments could contribute to this end (see Chapter 6.4).

A well-crafted policy mix that combines regulatory measures with market-based instruments offers the most resilient and effective approach. By leveraging the strengths of different instruments and providing a safety net against the weakening of any single policy, such a mix enhances both the environmental and economic outcomes of climate policy.

Importantly, regulators should always bear in mind that past decisions undermining the credibility of an instrument will also affect the credibility of future instruments and targets. For example, any weakening or postponement of fleet emission targets for 2025 will inevitably damage the credibility of future vehicle CO_2 targets as well as other climate policy instruments.

5. CO₂ standards and the EU's green industrial policy

Beyond advancing environmental sustainability in the transport sector, its CO_2 standards are a cornerstone of the EU's green industrial policy. The Green Deal Industrial Plan, introduced by the European Commission in early 2023, aims to enhance the competitiveness of Europe's net-zero industry and accelerate the transition to climate neutrality. A key initiative under this plan, the Net-Zero Industry Act, seeks to scale up the EU's manufacturing capacity for technologies essential to the clean energy transition. Together, these initiatives should align climate protection with economic growth, strengthen the EU's industrial base, create quality jobs, and support energy independence.

Within this context, CO_2 standards are instrumental in driving the global competitiveness of the European car industry. That European car manufacturers have long been at the forefront of green automotive technology development was also due to the standards imposed by the EU. By mandating reductions of their vehicles' specific CO_2 emissions, these regulations compel manufacturers to innovate, invest in R&D, and adopt advanced technologies. This accelerates technological progress in electric drivetrains, battery technology, and also lightweight materials; the CO_2 standards contribute to reducing per-unit costs through economies of scale and learning curve effects, making European cars more price-competitive internationally. In a rapidly evolving automotive market, these investments enable European manufacturers to maintain competitive advantages or help regain them where they have been lost in recent years. As global demand shifts toward low-emission vehicles, the EU industry must leverage and expand its green technology expertise to sustain international market share. Compliance with stringent CO_2 standards in the domestic market also positions European carmakers to succeed in export markets with strict regulations, such as China and California, where the demand for advanced low-emission technologies continues to grow.

Conversely, the European automotive industry risks being permanently left behind in key future markets if swift and substantial investments are not made in advanced clean technologies. In some of these areas, international competitors have already overtaken European manufacturers. To prevent the gap from widening and to instead initiate a successful catch-up, the European industry cannot afford any further delays in the transformation. Weakening now the fleet CO₂ standards in any form (including compliance postponement or suspension of penalty payments) would slow down the transformational momentum and innovation pace, and create uncertainty about the seriousness and ambition of the EU's transition to a cleaner passenger car fleet. Decelerating the transition to EVs and a retreat to internal combustion engines would increasingly block access to important export markets, elevating risks of losing market shares to competitors from regions with stricter regulations. Ultimately, this could undermine the economic significance and value creation of the European automotive industry, threatening jobs and even the survival of entire companies.

Beyond vehicle technology, CO₂ standards also drive investment in complementary products and supporting infrastructure, whose demand could also stagnate without regulatory pressure to produce EVs, stifling the broader transition to a low-carbon economy. This would reduce Europe's general attractiveness as a hub for future green automotive technologies.

Abandoning CO₂ standards would not only harm the global competitiveness of Europe's automotive industry, it would also directly jeopardize its ability to meet its climate targets under the Paris agreement. The transport sector is a key contributor to GHG emissions in Europe, and without strict CO₂ standards, emissions from this sector would not decline quickly enough to meet the EU's climate goals. This shortfall would place additional pressure on other (industrial) sectors of the economy to compensate, potentially leading to costly and economically damaging interventions; thus, even other sectors in the economy may suffer from decelerated progress in the automotive industry.

In conclusion, relaxing the CO_2 standards would not only undermine Europe's climate goals but also put its economic prosperity at jeopardy, leaving the automotive industry vulnerable in an increasingly green global economy.

6. Critical assessment of options for further development of the regulatory framework

While there are strong economic arguments for CO_2 fleet limits to remain a key pillar of the transport sector's climate policy mix, this does not preclude discussions about further developing the regulatory framework in the future. Several proposals for adjustments have already been made in the past. This chapter critically assesses some of the options that have emerged in the debate and may be discussed during the review process of the CO_2 standards.

6.1 Accounting for renewable fuels

During the most recent reform of the European CO_2 emission standards, proposals were made to recognize the use of renewable fuels—specifically renewable fuels of non-biological origin or e-fuels—for compliance with CO_2 limits. Eventually, the European Commission was tasked with developing a proposal to implement such a provision; as of now, the implementation is still pending. In addition, there are also recurring voices calling for the inclusion of biofuels. However, several arguments caution against integrating vehicle technology regulation with fuel regulation. It is preferable to keep them separate to ensure effective decarbonization, foster innovation, and avoid the risks associated with overreliance on biofuels and renewable electricity-based synthetic fuels.

By setting limits on tailpipe emissions, CO_2 standards force manufacturers to develop and market more energy-efficient vehicles. This can be achieved either by reducing the specific CO_2 emissions of ICE vehicles, which also lowers their fuel consumption, or by increasing the share of EVs in their fleets, which are inherently more energy-efficient than ICE vehicles. Thus, CO_2 standards contribute to cutting motorists' energy costs—providing the standards' consumer side rationale.

This impact of CO₂ standards is especially beneficial when institutional and behavioral barriers, as discussed in prior sections, prevent vehicle buyers from making cost-effective fuel efficiency decisions entirely on their own. In such cases, mandating better fuel efficiency through regulatory standards can reduce consumers' total cost of vehicle ownership and generate overall economic gains. Allowing biofuels or e-fuels to be used as a compliance option would negate this benefit, however. Switching from fossil to renewable fuels does not improve a vehicle's fuel efficiency, and these fuels are likely to remain scarce and expensive for the foreseeable future.

Focusing regulatory efforts on tailpipe emissions ensures that manufacturers are incentivized to invest in the most innovative drivetrain technologies, in particular EVs which produce zero tailpipe emissions. Only the development and production scaling of innovative technologies, such as those in EVs, carries significant positive externalities that benefit not only the automotive sector but also the broader economy: Beyond spillovers within the automotive industry, EVs continue to drive advancements in battery technology or renewable energy integration. Permitting biofuels and e-fuels to count toward vehicle CO_2 standards would also slow down the build-up of the necessary infrastructure for EVs, reducing positive network effects.

In contrast to EVs, ICE vehicles, even when powered by e-fuels, are technologically widely mature and offer little potential for further innovation. The development of ICE drivetrains has reached a plateau, meaning they generate no significant positive externalities in terms of technological spillovers or infrastructure development. In consequence, allowing compliance via alternative fuels might well hamper reaping economically beneficial external effects through a delay in the transition to electric vehicles.

In addition to delaying electrification, there is considerable uncertainty surrounding the future availability and scalability of biofuels and e-fuels. Producing these fuels at scale is resource-intensive, often requiring vast amounts of land and water, or renewable electricity. Large-scale production of first-generation biofuels, in particular, competes with other critical sectors, such as food and fodder production, and can result in deforestation, biodiversity loss, and land-use conflicts unless stringent

sustainability criteria are strictly enforced. While second-generation biofuels (e.g., based on waste cooking oil) are more sustainable, their production is inherently limited by the availability of sustainable feedstocks. Similarly, e-fuels are produced through an energy-intensive process that consumes large amounts of renewable electricity, which is still in limited supply and unlikely to soon meet the growing demand from multiple sectors. Moreover, an additional challenge can arise from securing sustainable carbon dioxide, which is needed in the production of liquid e-fuels, as direct air capture may be more costly than expected and biogenic CO₂, though suitable, is often decentralized and scarce, requiring substantial logistical efforts. Thus, referring to sourcing e-fuels from favourable locations outside of Europe (i.e., sweet spot regions for renewable electricity) cannot fully resolve these issues, as those countries also have to decarbonize their own economies, leading to a need for renewable electricity as well as renewable hydrogen and hydrocarbons.

Even if there is confidence in the long-term prospects of these fuels, the uncertainty about their scalability in the mid-term poses a significant risk to the regulation. If manufacturers adopt an e-fuels strategy and these fuels are eventually not available at the required amounts, the regulation will become very costly or—more likely—be rendered ineffective. In the first case, manufacturers would have to abruptly ramp-up their EV production and rapidly cut their sales of ICE vehicles to still comply with the CO₂ standards. In the second case, the pressure to weaken the regulation is becoming too great to resist, leading to missed climate goals in the transport sector and potentially undermining the broader objectives of decarbonization.

Nonetheless, it is economically advisable to promote the development and production of renewable synthetic fuels. While ICE vehicles that use alternative fuels barely deliver substantial positive externalities, advancing renewables-based synthetic fuels can generate significant positive externalities, such as technological spillovers during their R&D and particularly during their production phases. Yet, the arising of these benefits are largely independent of the sector in which the fuels are used. Thus, when considering the specific implementation of policies to realize such positive externalities, it is prudent to already take into account where these fuels will provide the greatest long-term environmental and economic benefits. Within the transport sector, e-fuels, as well as biofuels, are most valuable in aviation and shipping, where alternatives to liquid fuels are widely not feasible in the foreseeable future. Therefore, the development of production capacities for renewable liquid fuels should from the outset focus on these areas where long-term demand is expected due to the lack of viable technological alternatives. The incentives arising from their consideration in the CO₂ standards could hinder this alignment. If they result in the use of renewable liquid fuels —beyond by-products— in large quantities in the passenger car sector, where electric vehicles are a viable and more efficient alternative, this would constitute an inefficient allocation of resources.

Finally, another important reason for maintaining separate regulations for vehicle technology and fuels is the regulatory clarity and the clear allocation of responsibilities. Automakers, who are subject to CO_2 standards, have direct control only over the tailpipe emissions of their vehicles, which they can influence through technological improvements and managing their sales mix. Therefore, it makes sense to address and hold accountable fuel suppliers as well as transport operators for scaling up efuels. Instruments such as the EU's Renewable Energy Directive, ReFuel Aviation, and FuelEU Maritime are suitable tools to incentivize fuel production without interfering with vehicle regulations.

6.2 Expanding the regulatory scope to the entire vehicle life cycle

The climate impact of road vehicles is not restricted to their use phase. GHG emissions occur over the entire life cycle of the cars, from resource mining and material production to the manufacture and finally the end-of-life phase. For combustion vehicles, the total life cycle GHG footprint is clearly dominated by usage phase emissions. This is also true for electric vehicles with the current electricity mix (and even more so with further growing shares of renewable electricity), but here concerns have been raised about the emissions during the manufacture of the vehicles, more specifically about the battery production. Hence, there are proponents who argue to even further widen the scope of the

regulation to also include these emissions—that is, in favour of taking a vehicle's entire lifecycle emissions as the regulation's metric. However, this would be problematic for a number of reasons.

First, given globalized value chains, the data requirements of a comprehensive life cycle approach for entire vehicles, which are among the most complex consumer products, are huge. Information is needed on a large number of processes linked to resource extraction, materials processing, and manufacturing. The same holds true for disposal and recycling patterns as well as for processes in primary production that are substituted by recycled materials. In addition, the required information is very dynamic as all actors involved in the system are continuously working on process improvements and adapting their supply chains; this applies in particular to the supply chain for EVs, which is less mature compared to that of ICE vehicles. Given that this information can hardly be obtained accurately in the short and medium term, the applied data would have to rely—at least partially—on default values. Using defaults, however, does not set proper incentives for CO₂-reducing innovations, and legal disputes would be likely. Also, the question arises whether the lifecycle GHG metric should distinguish those GHG emissions that are already subjected to other climate policy measures from unregulated emissions. Even if the quality of data could be improved over time, its gathering for the entire vehicle life cycle would still remain challenging, involving large effort as well as establishing credible MRV systems overseas.

Second, the manufacturing (including all upstream production processes) as well as the end-of-life emissions of vehicles have a different character from the emissions during their operation, similar to the difference between fixed and variable costs in a purchase decision. The latter are widely variable depending on the usage, whereas the former are independent of the usage patterns. A combined metric can potentially cause economically and environmentally adverse distortions—particularly if the metric is also used for consumer information purposes. For instance, depending on the expected mileage over the vehicle's lifetime, it may be reasonable to accept slightly higher emissions during production (e.g., for lightweight materials) in order to achieve lower emissions during use; for passenger cars with high mileage, this could potentially reduce lifecycle emissions per kilometer driven, whereas this would not apply to vehicles with comparatively low mileage. A metric combining fixed and variable emissions may struggle to address such tradeoffs.

Third, according to the behavioral barriers outlined above, consumers tend to insufficiently factor in future (energy) costs when making vehicle purchase decisions. This is one of the key rationales for imposing CO₂ standards, or fuel economy regulations in general, because they can counteract this tendency and thus create net welfare gains. This undervaluation applies to the use phase of the vehicles but not to their production stage as manufacturing-related carbon costs (via CO₂ pricing) and energy costs have already accrued at the time of the vehicle purchase decision. Manufacturers incorporate them in vehicle retail prices, so they are highly salient and thus not underestimated or undervalued by vehicle buyers. Hence, fleet standards for light-duty vehicles—as well as obligatory efficiency information (e.g., fuel economy labels)—should focus on cost determinants beyond the purchase price in order to help consumers making better decisions in terms of total cost of ownership—that is, efficiency during operation. Disposal-related costs (or revenues) and emissions also occur in the future, but they do not justify the same concern with regards to the undervaluation rationale as (a) their absolute magnitude is relatively small and (b) the costs are often not borne by the consumer.

Notwithstanding, improving the lifecycle environmental performance of new vehicles is a highly important issue to be taken care of, particularly with regard to the batteries. However, to address upstream emissions and disposal-related environmental impacts, specifically dedicated policy instruments like the EU's Renewable Energy Directive, the New Batteries Regulation or the Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive are more appropriate. Replacing the current CO₂ standards by a life cycle regulation will neither help consumers nor does it guarantee better environmental yields.

6.3 Regulating energy consumption of EVs

Reducing the limit value for the average CO_2 emissions of the newly registered cars acts as a catalyst for electrification. The electrification rate of new cars will need to reach substantial levels by 2025 and is likely to exceed half of new registrations by 2030. However, as this trend becomes ever more prominent, the regulation becomes less relevant as a driver for energy efficiency to the fleet as a whole, since a shrinking share of vehicles actually emit CO_2 . The current CO_2 standards do not set any (implicit) efficiency targets for EVs as they do not emit any tailpipe CO_2 , irrespective of their energy consumption. In this situation, market forces could lead to a fleet of increasingly large, heavy and energy-consuming (electric) vehicles; and this trend may also extend to the remaining ICE fleet if electrification progresses faster than anticipated, thereby reducing the pressure to lower the fuel consumption of combustion vehicles. This would run counter not only to the original intentions of the legislation, which also had energy efficiency implicitly in mind, but also to the spirit of the EU Green Deal and to the general sense that unfettered growth in resource consumption is incompatible with any notion of sustainable development.

Thus, with the ever-rising market share of EVs, it is no longer feasible to continue ignoring their energy consumption in regulatory frameworks. For one, the behavioral barriers to energy efficiency that were outlined above also apply to EVs. Thus, leaving EVs' energy consumption unregulated means potential financial savings for motorists remain untapped. For another, electricity generation causes environmental harm, which could be mitigated with less energy-consuming EVs; this also applies— albeit to a lesser extent—to renewable electricity, which is not entirely free of environmental issues and relies on scarce raw materials. Furthermore, with growing demand across multiple sectors, renewable electricity will remain a valuable and limited resource for years to come, warranting its judicious use. Finally, a fleet of large and heavy (electric) vehicles poses health risks (e.g., more microplastic pollution from tire wear), occupies more urban space, and increases traffic safety risks.

The current format of the legislation was initially designed for a fleet dominated by combustion cars. As time and electrification progress, it is advisable to prepare provisions in the regulatory framework for the transport sector, aimed at specifically regulating the energy efficiency of road vehicles rather than focussing only on their tailpipe CO_2 emissions. As emphasized in Chapter 4, reliability and credibility are central pillars of a successful long-term climate policy. Striking a balance between these principles and the need for regulatory adjustments to improve precision and adequacy—while also limiting regulatory complexity—is always a challenging task. Different forms of 'dual regulation' that may achieve such a balance should be carefully considered and evaluated; in the U.S., for example, specific fuel consumption and CO_2 emissions are regulated separately, yet in a coordinated manner. This approach could retain the current tailpipe CO_2 standards to ensure planning security while introducing complementary measures better targeted towards energy efficiency. The latter could involve technology-specific minimum efficiency targets or apply to the entire fleet.

As the regulatory gap primarily concerns EVs, a relatively quick remedy would be to introduce a new, additional efficiency regulation for electric vehicles only, while maintaining the existing legislation in its current format, at least during a transitional phase, to uphold the principle of regulatory reliability. The additional regulation could use the specific final energy consumption per kilometer driven as a metric; it would act as an implicit cap on electricity costs for motorists and safeguard against a continuous growth in size and performance of electric cars, which would otherwise undermine the environmental advantages of introducing these vehicles.

Yet, consumers' tendency to undervalue future fuel costs provides an economic rationale for introducing a separate CO_2 (or energy consumption) target for the ICE vehicle fleet. As previously mentioned, efficiency incentives for combustion engine vehicles would largely vanish under a fleetwide CO_2 target if car fleet electrification progresses quickly (faster than anticipated). A specific CO_2 limit for combustion vehicles could serve as a short-term stopgap to ensure a minimum efficiency level, given the close correlation between their CO_2 emissions and energy consumption.

At a later stage, the regulation could be fully shifted to using final energy consumption as the metric for all new vehicles. This approach would create efficiency incentives for the remaining ICE vehicles, as well as for plug-in hybrids and fully electric vehicles. While incentivizing the tapping of efficiency potentials for all drivetrains, there would still be strong incentives to advance the market uptake of EVs due to their inherently lower final energy consumption.

While different approaches are conceivable to better address the energy efficiency challenges arising from an increasingly technologically heterogeneous fleet, it is crucial to act promptly to prevent unsustainable developments in the vehicle market. To enable timely implementation of potential further developments to the sector's regulatory framework in this regard, possibly in the wake of upcoming reviews of the CO2 standards, the EU Commission should immediately begin laying the groundwork by commissioning necessary studies and initiating stakeholder consultations.

6.4 Banking and borrowing to provide compliance flexibility

As the 2025 CO_2 target for vehicle fleets approaches, concerns are mounting within the industry that some manufacturers may struggle to meet their obligations, which would lead to penalties. There has been discussion recently around postponing the 2025 target by two years, suspending penalty payments, or generally weakening the standards to provide manufacturers with more time or 'compliance flexibility.' However, rather than improving flexibility in compliance, such proposals would effectively dilute the standards. Postponing the target (as well as suspending penalties, which in practice means the same) would have significant negative effects. Higher-emitting vehicles sold during the two-year extension would remain on the road for an average of 15 years, resulting in higher cumulative emissions, which ultimately matter for climate protection. Additionally, this delay would mean consumers miss out on energy cost savings and could face rising CO_2 prices in the newly introduced ETS 2 due to a higher allowance demand from the transport sector.

Banking and borrowing mechanisms could actually provide compliance flexibility while—if welldesigned—ensuring or potentially even enhancing the environmental integrity of the regulations. These mechanisms, already implemented in some regulations such as the U.S. Corporate Average Fuel Economy (CAFE) and GHG standards, allow manufacturers to manage compliance over time. Banking permits manufacturers to generate credits by exceeding their CO₂ emission or fuel efficiency targets in a given year, which can be "banked" and used in future years when compliance may be more challenging. Borrowing, on the other hand, allows manufacturers to meet current obligations by borrowing credits from future compliance periods, with the understanding that they must make up for the shortfall in later years. To further increase compliance flexibility, credits can be made tradable across manufacturers—again as in the U.S.

Upon careful design, banking and borrowing could enable manufacturers to comply more costeffectively with their CO₂ abatement obligations by providing additional temporal flexibility, while still ensuring full-scale long-term emissions reductions. However, it is critical to adopt a structure for the CO₂ targets that secures these mechanisms do not undermine the environmental integrity of the standards. Currently, new CO₂ targets in the European fleet standards take effect in five-year intervals, remaining unchanged during the interim periods. This stepwise tightening of fleet limits would almost inevitably result in manufacturers generating excess credits in the years leading up to a new target year. This is because manufacturers cannot adjust their emissions "overnight"—that is, from a year preceding a target year to the target year itself-to match the extent of the target value changes occurring with the step to the next five-year interval. Although manufacturers tend to reduce their emissions disproportionately as they approach a year with a stricter target, the reduction must begin earlier due to product and production planning requirements. Thus, with a flat CO₂ target trajectory in interim years, the normal market ramp-up scenario risks allowing manufacturers to accumulate substantial 'windfall credits ' in the years before a new target takes effect. These credits could then be used to emit more in years immediately following a tightening of the CO₂ target, thereby increasing cumulative emissions (compared to the regulatory status quo) and delaying necessary climate action.

To avoid these risks, a gradual—rather than stepwise—tightening of CO_2 targets, such as a linear pathway between key target years, is required. This would prevent the generation of 'windfall credits,' ensure a smoother transition, and promote continuous improvement without the 'last-minute' rush to compliance seen in past years or the postponement of substantial electrification efforts until the last possible moment. By prompting vehicle-specific emissions to decrease more steadily over time, this design would lower cumulative emissions and deliver more immediate environmental benefits.

With borrowing, there remains a risk that firms may fail to meet their future obligations, for instance, if technological advancements or needed shifts in the sales mix do not materialize as expected by manufacturers; this risk is further exacerbated if the current management focuses too heavily on short-term profits or relies excessively on a late catch-up strategy. In such cases, high penalties may be due, possibly generating substantial pressure for a subsequent weakening of the system. To maintain the credibility of a banking and borrowing system, particularly in the case of borrowing, safeguards should be implemented. Manufacturers borrowing credits could be required to deposit a portion of the potential penalty (in the event of failing to offset the borrowed credits) as security, increasing the likelihood that they meet their future obligations. Furthermore, the amount of borrowing permitted could be capped to prevent over-reliance on future reductions.

To conclude, in principle, banking and borrowing mechanisms allow manufacturers to align their strategies over time, reduce costs, and encourage early investments in cleaner technologies, all while achieving a steady reduction in vehicle emissions. Securing a system that is credible, well-regulated, and effectively monitored—one that includes robust safeguards for environmental integrity and avoids creating loopholes—is essential to preventing potential pitfalls. A key safeguard is coupling these mechanisms with a trajectory of continuously tightening CO_2 targets. By rewarding manufacturers for early mitigation actions, such a system could ideally also help counteract ratchet effects (see Chapter 4) and provide additional energy cost savings to consumers by leveraging efficiency potentials that might otherwise remain untapped during interim years due to non-binding targets. What is clear, however, is that target shortfalls in the coming year cannot be compensated for by overcompliance along a flat CO_2 target trajectory without risking severe damage to the system's credibility and environmental integrity.

6.5 Conclusion: Keep focus on vehicle technology, avoid potential loopholes

As with almost any regulation, this also holds true for the CO₂ standards: In light of new insight and dynamic market developments, regulators must strike a difficult balance between—on the one hand—regulatory evolution and—on the other hand—providing stability and planning certainty for investors as well as maintaining credibility. Thus, as the automotive sector transitions towards zero-emission mobility, vehicle regulation must evolve thoughtfully to remain reliable and maintain their effectiveness, thereby continuing to deliver both environmental and consumer benefits, and to strengthen the competitiveness of European manufacturers.

Consequently, regulating CO₂ and energy efficiency during vehicle operation should remain the primary focus of the standards, as it respects the direct responsibilities of manufacturers, who have full control only over a vehicle's fuel efficiency. This approach also aligns best with consumer interests by promoting energy savings. Including fuels in the regulatory scope or considering a vehicle's entire lifecycle emissions complicates accountability and makes the regulation significantly more complex. Additionally, scarce (sustainable) biofuels and renewable electricity-based synthetic fuels may be diverted from sectors where they are most needed, such as aviation and shipping.

As electrification progresses, focusing solely on tailpipe CO_2 emissions is no longer sufficient, as a growing share of the fleet will remain unregulated, and significant efficiency improvements could be foregone. Future regulations must place greater emphasis on energy consumption, the options to do so need to be assessed now.

If regulators seek greater compliance flexibility and consider mechanisms such as banking and borrowing, it is crucial that they are designed without loopholes that could undermine the regulation's ambition. For example, with banking and borrowing, it is essential to adjust the CO₂ target structure to ensure a continuous rather than stepwise tightening of standards to prevent the creation of "windfall" credits. A robust design must safeguard environmental integrity and deliver efficiency gains for consumers.

7. Final remarks

Maintaining robust CO₂ standards is essential for achieving Europe's climate goals and ensuring the global competitiveness of its automotive industry. Carbon pricing alone cannot adequately address the market imperfections and barriers that slow the adoption of clean technologies. CO₂ standards— integrated within a broader policy mix—ensure that manufacturers continue to innovate, improve vehicle efficiency, and can compete in the rapidly growing zero-emission vehicle market. Weakening these standards would harm Europe's prospects for technological leadership, slow decarbonization, and increase long-term costs for consumers and businesses alike.

While it is crucial to uphold the overall stringency of the standards to preserve credibility, planning certainty, and environmental integrity, the shift towards electrification may warrant careful adjustments—particularly to regulate the energy efficiency of electric vehicles in the future. Flexibility mechanisms that provide manufacturers with additional compliance options, such as banking and borrowing, must be implemented very thoughtfully to avoid diluting environmental goals. Expanding the scope of the fleet standards to include fuels or the entire vehicle life cycle would blur responsibilities and complicate regulation, potentially stifling innovation and delaying decarbonization in other key sectors like aviation and shipping.

Literature

Key Sources

Agora Verkehrswende (2020): Technologieneutralität im Kontext der Verkehrswende. Kritische Beleuchtung eines Postulats.

Agora Verkehrswende (2020): Technology Neutrality for Sustainable Transport. Critical Assessment of a Postulate – Summary.

Elmer, Carl-Friedrich (2016): The Economics of Vehicle CO₂ Emissions Standards and Fuel Economy Regulations – Rationale, Design, and the Electrification Challenge.

Chapter 1

ACEA (2024). The automotive industry", Pocket Guide 2023/2024.

European Central Bank (2024). Will the euro area car sector recover?, *ECB Economic Bulletin, Issue* 4/2024.

European Parliament (2024). The crisis facing the EU's automotive industry, EPRS | European Parliamentary Research Service

European Environmental Agency (2024). Annual European Union greenhouse gas inventory 1990–2021 and inventory report 2023.

Chapter 2

Acemoglu et al. (2016) Transition to Clean Technologies. Journal of Political Economy, vol. 124.

Ackerman, F., & Stanton, E. (2012). Climate Risks and Carbon Prices: Revising the Social Cost of Carbon. *Economics: The Open-Access, Open-Assessment E-Journal, 6*(10), 1-27.

Aghion, P., Dechezleprêtre, A., Hemous, D., Martin, R., & Van Reenen, J. (2014). *Carbon Taxes, Path Dependency and Directed Technical Change : Evidence from the Auto Industry*.

Aldy, J. E., Stavins R. N. (2012) Using the Market to Address Climate Change: Insights from Theory & *Experience*. Daedalus, vol. 141, no. 2

Allcott, H., Mullainathan, S., & Taubinsky, D. (2014). Energy Policy with Externalities and Internalities. *Journal of Public Economics*, *112*(0), 72-88.

Anthoff, D., Tol, R. S. J., & Yohe, G. W. (2009). Risk Aversion, Time Preference, and the Social Cost of Carbon. *Environmental Research Letters*, 4(2), 024002.

Anthoff, R. Hahn (2010). Government failure and market failure: on the inefficiency of environmental and energy policy, *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, Volume 26, Issue 2.

Anthoff, R. Hahn (2010). *Government failure and market failure: on the inefficiency of environmental and energy policy*. Oxford Review of Economic Policy, Volume 26, Issue 2.

Armitage S., Bakhtian N., Jaffe A. (2023). *Innovation Market Failures and the Design of New Climate Policy Instruments*. *National Bureau of Economic Research*, Cambridge, MA.

Azar, C., & Sandén, B. A. (2011). *The Elusive Quest for Technology-Neutral Policies*. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions. 1(1), 135-139.

Bauer, N., Bosetti, V., Hamdi-Cherif, M., Kitous, A., McCollum, D., Méjean, A., Rao, S., Turton, H., Paroussos, L., Ashina, S., Calvin, K., Wada, K., & van Vuuren, D. (2013). CO₂ Emission Mitigation and Fossil Fuel Markets: Dynamic and International Aspects of Climate Policies. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*

Bennear, L. S., & Stavins, R. (2007). Second-Best Theory and the Use of Multiple Policy Instruments. *Environmental & Resource Economics*, *37*(111-129).

De Mello Santana P. H. (2016). *Cost-effectiveness as energy policy mechanisms: The paradox of technology-neutral and technology-specific policies in the short and long term*. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews.

Hepburn, C. (2010). *Environmental policy, government, and the market*. Oxford Review of Economic Policy, Volume 26, Issue 2.

Jaffe, A. B., Newell, R., & Stavins, R. N. (2005). *A Tale of two Market Failures: Technology and Environmental Policy*. Ecological Economics, 54(2–3), 164-174

Nelson, R. (2017). *Thinking About Technology Policy: 'Market Failures' versus 'Innovation systems'. UCL Institute for Innovation and Public Purpose*. Working Paper Series (IIPP WP 2017-02)

Pless et al. (2023). Unintended Consequences of Tech-Neutrality: Evidence from Environmental and Innovation Policy Interactions. MIT Sloan Working Paper 6962-23. Cambridge, MA: MIT Sloan School of Management.

Richard G. Newell (2010) *The role of markets and policies in delivering innovation for climate change mitigation. Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, Volume 26, Issue 2.

Stern N. (2022) *Towards a carbon neutral economy: How government should respond to market failures and market absence*. Journal of Government and Economics, Volume 6.

Chapter 3

Acemoglu D., Aghion P., Bursztyn L., and Hemous D. (2012). The Environment and Directed Technical Change. *American Economic Review*, 102 (1): 131–66.

Aghion, P., Dechezleprêtre, A., Hemous, D., Martin, R., & Van Reenen, J. (2014). *Carbon Taxes, Path Dependency and Directed Technical Change : Evidence from the Auto Industry*.

Aghion, P., Dewatripont, M., & Rey, P. (1997). Corporate Governance, Competition Policy and Industrial Policy. *European Economic Review*, *41*, 797–805.

Akerlof, G. A. (1970). The Market for "Lemons": Quality Uncertainty and the Market Mechanism. *Quarterly Journal of Economics, 84*(3), 488–500.

Allcott, H. (2011a). Consumers' Perceptions and Misperceptions of Energy Costs. *American Economic Review*, *101*(3), 98-104.

Allcott, H. (2013). The Welfare Effects of Misperceived Product Costs: Data and Calibrations from the Automobile Market. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy, 30*(66), 30–66.

Allcott, H., & Taubinsky, D. (2013). *The Lightbulb Paradox: Evidence from Two Randomized Experiments*.

Allcott, H., Mullainathan, S., & Taubinsky, D. (2014). Energy Policy with Externalities and Internalities. *Journal of Public Economics*, *112*(0), 72-88.

Ambec, S., & Barla, P. (2006). Can Environmental Regulations Be Good for Business? An Assessment of the Porter Hypothesis. *Energy Studies Review*, *14*(2), 42–62.

Ambec, S., Cohen, M. A., Elgie, S., & Lanoie, P. (2011). *The Porter Hypothesis at 20. Can Environmental Regulation Enhance Innovation and Competitiveness? RFF DP 11-01*. Resources for the Future. Washington, D.C.

Ansar, J., & Sparks, R. (2009). The Experience Curve, Option Value, and the Energy Paradox. *Energy Policy*, *37*, 1012-1020.

Ariely, D., Huber, J., & Wertenbroch, K. (2005). When Do Losses Loom Larger than Gains? *Journal of Marketing Research, XLII*, 134–138.

Arrow, K. J. (1962). The Economic Implications of Learning by Doing. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 29(3), 155-173.

Barla, P., & Proost, S. (2012). Energy Efficiency Policy in a Non-cooperative World. *Energy Economics*, 34(6), 2209-2215

Blumstein, C., Krieg, B., Schipper, L., & York, C. (1980). Overcoming Social and Institutional Barriers to Energy Conservation. *Energy*, 5(4), 355-371.

Brown, S. P., & Huntington, H. G. (2010). *Reassessing the Oil Security Premium. Discussion Paper 10-05*. Resources for the Future. Washington, D.C.

Budde, B., Alkemade, F., & Weber, K. M. (2012). Expectations as a Key to Understanding Actor Strategies in the Field of Fuel Cell and Hydrogen Vehicles. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 79(6), 1072-1083.

Caplin, A., & Dean, M. (2014). *Revealed Preference, Rational Inattention, and Costly Information Acquisition. NBER Working Paper No.* 19876.

Conlisk, J. (1988). Optimization Cost. Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization, 9(3), 213-228.

Copenhagen Economics. (2010). *Company Car Taxation: Subsidies, Welfare and Environment. Taxation Papers. Working Paper No. 22*. European Commission. Luxembourg.

Croson, R., & Treich, N. (2014). Behavioral Environmental Economics: Promises and Challenges. *Environmental and Resource Economics*, *58*(3), 335-351.

Dechezlepretre A., Martin R., Mohnen M. (2017). *Knowledge Spillovers from clean and dirty technologies*. GRI Working Papers 135, Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment.

DellaVigna, S. (2009). Psychology and Economics: Evidence from the Field. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 47(2), 315-372.

DellaVigna, S. (2009). Psychology and Economics: Evidence from the Field. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 47(2), 315-372.

Dhar, R., & Wertenbroch, K. (2000). Consumer Choice Between Hedonic and Utilitarian Goods. *Journal of Marketing Research, XXXVII*, 60-71.

Farrell, J., & Kllemperer, P. (2007). Coordination and Lock-In: Competition with Switching Costs and Network Effects. In M. Armstrong & R. Porter (Eds.), *Handbook of Industrial Organization* (Vol. 3, pp. 1970-2072). Amsterdam: North-Holland.

Fischer, C. (2005). On the Importance of the Supply Side in Demand-side Management. *Energy Economics*, 27(1), 165-180.

Fischer, C. (2010). *Competition, Consumer Behavior, and the Provision of Fuel Efficiency in Light-Duty Vehicles. Discussion paper 10-60.* Resources for the Future. Washington, D.C.

Fraas, A. G., Harrington, W., & Morgenstern, R. D. (2014). *Cheaper Fuels for the Light-Duty Fleet. Opportunities and Barriers. RFF DP 13-28-REV.* Resources for the Future. Washington, D.C.

Frederick, S., Loewenstein, G., & O'Donoghue, T. (2002). Time Discounting and Time Preference: A Critical Review. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 40(2), 351-401.

Gabel, H. L., & Sinclair-Desgagné, B. (1998). The Firm, Its Routines, and the Environment. In H. Folmer & T. Tietenberg (Eds.), *The International Yearbook of Environmental and Resource Economics* 1998/1999: A Survey of Current Issues. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar.

Gigerenzer, G., & Selten, R. (2002). *Bounded Rationality. The Adaptive Toolbox*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Gillingham, K., & Palmer, K. (2014). Bridging the Energy Efficiency Gap: Policy Insights from Economic Theory and Empirical Evidence. *Review of Environmental Economics and Policy*, 8(1), 18-38.

Gilmore, E. A., & Lave, L. B. (2013). Comparing Resale Prices and Total Cost of Ownership for Gasoline, Hybrid and Diesel Passenger Cars and Trucks. *Transport Policy*, *27*, 200-208.

Gowdy, G. M. (2008). Behavioral Economics and Climate Change Policy. *Journal of Economic Behavior* & Organization, 68, 632–644.

Greene, D. L. (2010b). *Why the Market for New Passenger Cars Generally Undervalues Fuel Economy. Discussion paper No. 2010-6.* International Transport Forum, Joint Transport Research Centre. Paris.

Greene, D. L. (2011). Uncertainty, Loss Aversion, and Markets for Energy Efficiency. *Energy Economics*, *33*, 608–616.

Greene, D. L., Evans, D. H., & Hiestand, J. (2013). Survey Evidence on the Willingness of U.S. Consumers to Pay for Automotive Fuel Economy. *Energy Policy*, *61*, 1539-1550.

Greenwald, B. C., & Stiglitz, J. E. (1990). Asymmetric Information and the New Theory of the Firm: Financial Constraints and Risk Behavior. *American Economic Review*, *80*(2), 160-165.

Gutiérrez-i-Puigarnau, E., & Van Ommeren, J. N. (2011). Welfare Effects of Distortionary Fringe Benefits Taxation: The Case of Employer-Provided Cars. *International Economic Review*, *52*(4), 1105-1122.

Gutiérrez-i-Puigarnau, E., & Van Ommeren, J. N. (2011). Welfare Effects of Distortionary Fringe Benefits Taxation: The Case of Employer-Provided Cars. *International Economic Review*, *52*(4), 1105-1122.

Hall, B. H., Mairesse, J., & Mohnen, P. (2009). *Measuring the Returns to R&D. NBER Working Paper No. 15622.* National Bureau of Economic Research. Cambridge, MA. http://www.nber.org/papers/w15622 (Accessed October 8, 2012).

Hardie, B., Johnson, E., & Fader, P. (1993). Modeling Loss Aversion and Reference Dependence Effects on Brand Choice. *Marketing Science*, *12*(4), 378-394.

Harding, M. (2014). *Personal Tax Treatment of Company Cars and Commuting Expenses: Estimating the Fiscal and Environmental Costs. OECD Taxation Working Papers*, No. 20. OECD Publishing, Paris.

Harding, M. (2014). *Personal Tax Treatment of Company Cars and Commuting Expenses: Estimating the Fiscal and Environmental Costs. OECD Taxation Working Papers*, No. 20. OECD Publishing, Paris.

Heath, C., & Soll, J. B. (1996). Mental Budgeting and Consumer Decisions. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 23(1), 40-52.

Helfand, G. E., & Wolverton, A. (2011). *Evaluating the Consumer Response to Fuel Economy: A Review of the Literature. Working Paper 09-04, Revised Version*. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, National Center for Environmental Economics. Washington, D.C.

Herrnstein, R. J., Loewenstein, G., Prelec, D., & Vaughan, W. (1993). Utility Maximization and Melioration: Internalities in Individual Choice. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 6(3), 149-185.

Howarth, R. B., & Andersson, B. (1993). Market Barriers to Energy Efficiency. *Energy Economics*, 15(4), 262–272.

Jaffe, A. B., & Stavins, R. N. (1994b). The Energy Paradox and the Diffusion of Conservation Technology. *Resource and Energy Economics*, *16*(2), 91-122.

Jaffe, A. B., & Stavins, R. N. (1994b). The Energy Paradox and the Diffusion of Conservation Technology. *Resource and Energy Economics*, *16*(2), 91-122.

Jaffe, A. B., Newell, R., & Stavins, R. N. (2003). Technological Change and the Environment. In K. G. Mäler & J. R. Vincent (Eds.), *Handbook of Environmental Economics* (Vol. 1, pp. 461–516). Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Jaffe, A. B., Newell, R., & Stavins, R. N. (2003). Technological Change and the Environment. In K. G. Mäler & J. R. Vincent (Eds.), *Handbook of Environmental Economics* (Vol. 1, pp. 461–516). Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Jaffe, A. B., Newell, R., & Stavins, R. N. (2005). A Tale of two Market Failures: Technology and Environmental Policy. *Ecological Economics*, *54*(2–3), 164-174.

Johnson, E. J., Gächter, S., & Herrmann, A. (2006). *Exploring the Nature of Loss Aversion. IZA DP No.* 2015.

Jones, C. I., & Williams, J. C. (1998). Measuring the Social Return to R&D. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, *113*, 1119–1135.

Kahneman, D. (2003). Maps of Bounded Rationality: Psychology for Behavioral Economics. *The American Economic Review*, *93*(5), 1449-1475.

Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, Fast and Slow. New York: Macmillan.

Kahneman, D. (2011). Thinking, Fast and Slow. New York: Macmillan.

Kahneman, D., & Lovallo, D. (1993). Timid Choices and Bold Forecasts: A Cognitive Perspective on Risk Taking. *Management Science*, *39*(1), 17-31.

Kahneman, D., & Sugden, R. (2005). Experienced Utility as a Standard of Policy Evaluation. *Environmental & Resource Economics*, *32*(161-181).

Kahneman, D., & Thaler, R. H. (2006). Anomalies. Utility Maximization and Experienced Utility. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 20(1), 221-234.

Kahneman, D., & Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect Theory: An Analysis of Decision under Risk. *Econometrica*, 47(2), 263-292.

Kahneman, D., Knetsch, J. L., & Thaler, R. H. (1990). Experimental Tests of the Endowment Effect and the Coase Theorem. *Journal of Political Economy*, *98*(6), 1325-1348.

Kahneman, D., Knetsch, J. L., & Thaler, R. H. (1991). Anomalies: The Endowment Effect, Loss Aversion, and Status Quo Bias. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *5*, 193-206.

Kahneman, D., Knetsch, J. L., & Thaler, R. H. (1991). Anomalies: The Endowment Effect, Loss Aversion, and Status Quo Bias. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *5*, 193-206.

Kahneman, D., Slovic, P., & Tversky, A. (1982). *Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Katz, M. L., & Shapiro, C. (1994). Systems Competition and Network Effects. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 8(2), 93-115.

Krupa, J. S., Rizzo, D. M., Eppstein, M. J., Lanute, D. B., Gaalema, D. E., Lakkaraju, K., & Warrender, C. E. (2014). Analysis of a Consumer Survey on Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles. *Transportation Research Part A, 64,* 14-31.

Kurani, K. S., & Turrentine, T. S. (2004). *Automobile Buyer Decisions about Fuel Economy and Fuel Efficiency. Research Report UCD-ITS-RR-04-31*. Institute of Transportation Studies, University of California, Davis. Davis, CA.

Laibson, D. (1997). Golden Eggs and Hyperbolic Discounting. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 112(2), 443-478.

Larrick, R. P., & Soll, J. B. (2008). The MPG Illusion. Science, 320(5883), 1593-1594.

Liebowitz, S. J., & Margolis, S. E. (1994). Network Externality: An Uncommon Tragedy. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, *8*, 133–150.

McConnell, V., & Turrentine, T. (2010). Should Hybrid Vehicles Be Subsidized? Backgrounder for the Resources for the Future – National Energy Policy Institute Project: Toward a New National Energy Policy: Assessing the Options. Resources for the Future. Washington, D.C.

McFadden, D. (1999). Rationality for Economists? Journal of Risk and Uncertainty, 19(1-3), 73-105.

Mohr, R. D. (2002). Technical Change, External Economies, and the Porter Hypothesis. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 43(1), 158-168.

National Research Council. (2010a). *Hidden Costs of Energy: Unpriced Consequences of Energy Production and Use*. The National Academies Press. Washington, D.C.

Nordhaus, W. (2011a). Designing a Friendly Space for Technological Change to Slow Global Warming. *Energy Economics*, *33*(4), 665-673.

Novemsky, N., & Kahneman, D. (2005a). The Boundaries of Loss Aversion. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 42(2), 119-128.

Novemsky, N., & Kahneman, D. (2005b). How Do Intentions Affect Loss Aversion? *Journal of Marketing Research*, 42(2), 139-140.

O'Donoghue, T., & Rabin, M. (1999). Doing It Now or Later. American Economic Review, 89(1), 103-124.

Palmer, K. L., Walls, M., & Gerarden, G. (2012). *Borrowing to Save Energy: An Assessment of Energy-Efficiency Financing Programs*. Ressources for the Future. Washington, D.C.

Plourde, C., & Bardis, V. (1999). Fuel Economy Standards in a Model of Automobile Quality. *Energy Economics*, 21, 309-319.

Rabin, M. (1998). Psychology and Economics. Journal of Economic Literature, 36(1), 11-46.

Read, D., Loewenstein, G., & Rabin, M. (1999). Choice Bracketing. *Journal of Risk and Uncertainty, 19*(1-3), 171-197.

Sallee, J. M. (2014). Rational Inattention and Energy Efficiency. *Journal of Law and Economics*, 57(3), 781-820.

Sandén, B. A., & Azar, C. (2005). Near-Term Technology Policies for Long-Term Climate Targets— Economy Wide versus Technology Specific Approaches. Energy Policy, 33(12), 1557-1576.

Sandén, B. A., & Azar, C. (2005). Near-Term Technology Policies for Long-Term Climate Targets— Economy Wide versus Technology Specific Approaches. *Energy Policy*, *33*(12), 1557-1576.

Scharfstein, D. S., & Stein, J. C. (1990). Herd Behavior and Investment. *The American Economic Review*, 80(3), 465-479.

Shabtai, D., & White, L. J. (1988). Product Variety and the Inefficiency of Monopoly. *Economica*, 55(219), 393-401.

Shefrin, H. M., & Thaler, R. H. (2004). Mental Accounting, Saving, and Self-Control. In C. Camerer, G. Loewenstein & M. Rabin (Eds.), *Advances in Behavioral Economics* (pp. 395-428). New York: Russel Sage Foundation.

Shogren, J., & Taylor, L. (2008). On Behavioral-Environmental Economics. *Review of Environmental Economics and Policy*, *2*, 26–44.

Shogren, J., Parkhurst, G. M., & Banerjee, P. (2010). Two Cheers and a Qualm for Behavioral Environmental Economics. *Environmental and Resource Economics*, *46*(2), 235-247.

Shy, O. (2006). The Economics of Network Industries (7 ed.). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Simon, H. A. (1955). A Behavioral Model of Rational Choice. *Quarterly Journal of Economics, 69*(1), 99-118.

Simon, H. A. (1982). *Models of Bounded Rationality: Empirically Grounded Economic Reason*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Simon, H. A. (1986). Rationality in Psychology and Economics. Journal of Business, 59, 209–224.

Spurlock, C. A. (2013). *Appliance Efficiency Standards and Price Discrimination*. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. Berkeley, CA.

Thaler, R. H. (1990). Anomalies: Saving, Fungibility, and Mental Accounts. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 4(1), 193-205.

Train, K., & Winston, C. (2007). Vehicle Choice Behavior and the Declining Market Share of U.S. Automakers. *International Economic Review*, *48*(4), 1469-1496.

Turrentine, T. S., & Kurani, K. S. (2007). Car Buyers and Fuel Economy? *Energy Policy*, 35, 1213–1223.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, & National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. (2010b). *Environmental Protection Agency Fuel Economy Label. Final Report. EPA-420-R-10-909*.

Unruh, G. C. (2000). Understanding Carbon Lock-in. *Energy Policy*, 28(12), 817-830.

Unruh, G. C. (2002). Escaping Carbon Lock-in. Energy Policy, 30, 317-825.

Weyant, J. P. (2011). Accelerating the Development and Diffusion of New Energy Technologies: Beyond the "Valley of Death". *Energy Economics*, *33*(4), 674-682.

Whitmarsh, L., & Köhler, J. (2010). Climate Change and Cars in the EU: The Roles of Auto Firms, Consumers, and Policy in Responding to Global Environmental Change. *Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society 3*, 427–441.

Yeh, S., & Rubin, E. S. (2012). A Review of Uncertainties in Technology Experience Curves. *Energy Economics*, 34(3), 762-771.

Chapter 4

Brunner, S., Flachsland, C., & Marschinski, R. (2011). Credible commitment in carbon policy. *Climate Policy*, *12*(2), 255–271.

Freixas, X., Guesnerie, R., & Tirole, J. (1985). Planning under Incomplete Information and the Ratchet Effect. *The Review of Economic Studies*, *52*(2), 173-191.

Gallier, C., Sturm, B. (2020). The ratchet effect in social dilemmas. *ZEW Discussion Papers, No. 20-015, ZEW - Leibniz-Zentrum für Europäische Wirtschaftsforschung, Mannheim*

Helm, D., Hepburn, C. J., & Mash, R. (2003). Credible Carbon Policy. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, *19*(3), 438-450.

Nemet, G., Jakob, M., Steckel J.C, Edenhofer O. (2017). Addressing policy credibility problems for low-carbon investment. *Global Environmental Change*, Volume 42, 47-57

Rogge, K.S., Dütschke, E. (2018). What makes them believe in the low-carbon energy transition? Exploring corporate perceptions of the credibility of climate policy mixes. *Environmental Science & Policy*, Volume 87, 74-84,

Weitzman, M. L. (1980). The "Ratchet Principle" and Performance Incentives. *The Bell Journal of Economics*, *11*(1), 302-308.

Chapter 5

Altenburg, T. and D. Rodrik. (2017). *Green industrial policy: Accelerating structural change towards wealthy green economies*, German Development Institute.

Rodrik, D. (2014). Green industrial policy. Oxford Review of Economic Policy, Vol. 30/3, pp. 469-49.

Tagliapietra, S. and R. Veugelers (2020). Green industrial policy in the European Union. Bruegel.

Chapter 6

Achten, WMJ., Verchot, L. (2011). Implications of Biodiesel-Induced Land-Use Changes for CO₂ Emissions: Case Studies in Tropical America, Africa, and Southeast Asia. *Ecology and Society* 16(4):14.

Agora Verkehrswende (2021), Notes on the revision of the EU CO₂ emission performance standards for cars and light commercial vehicles.

https://www.agora-verkehrswende.org/fileadmin/Projekte/2021/Flottengrenzwerte/Agora-Verkehrswende_Notes_on_the_revision_of_the_EU_CO2_emission.pdf (last access 27/11/2024).

Agora Verkehrswende and PtX Hub (2024), E-fuels: Separating the substance from the hype – How electricity-based synthetic fuels can contribute to the energy transition in transport. https://www.agora-verkehrswende.org/publications/e-fuels-separating-the-substance-from-the-hype (last accessed, 27/11/2024).

Bowyer, C. (2010). Anticipated Indirect Land Use Change Associated with Expanded Use of Biofuels and Bioliquids in the EU – An Analysis of the National Renewable Energy Action Plans. *Institute European Environmental Policy*. London.

BP (2024): Oil is increasingly replaced by electricity as the main energy source for road transport. https://www.bp.com/en/global/corporate/energy-economics/energy-outlook/energydemand/transport.html (last accessed, 27/11/2024) DNV (2024): Energy Transition Outlook.

https://www.dnv.com/energy-transition-outlook/download/ (last accessed, 27/11/2024)

EU Commission (2023): Statement for a Regulation on CO₂ cars and vans. https://climate.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2023-03/policy_transport_co2_van_commission_statement_en_0.pdf (last accessed, 27/11/2024).

European Commission European Anti-Fraud Office. (2020). The OLAF report 2019 – Twentieth report of the European Anti-Fraud Office, 1 January to 31 December 2019. *Publications Office of the European Union*.

Foteinis, S., Chatzisymeon, E., Litinas, A., Tsoutsos, T. (2020). Used-cooking-oil biodiesel: Life cycle assessment and comparison with first- and third-generation biofuel. *Renewable Energy*, Volume 15, 588-600.

Gillingham, K. (2013). The Economics of Fuel Economy Standards versus Feebates. *National Energy Policy Institute*.

Harish Jeswani K., Andrew C. and Adisa A. (2020). Environmental sustainability of biofuels: a review. *Proc. R. Soc. A.* 476.

He, H. (2014) Credit Trading in the US Corporate Average Fuel Economy (CAFE) Standard. *The International Council of Clean Transportation.*

IEA (2023), *The Role of E-fuels in Decarbonising Transport*, IEA, Paris. https://www.iea.org/reports/the-role-of-e-fuels-in-decarbonising-transport (last accessed, 27/11/2024)

Jeswani, H.K., Chilvers, A., Azapagic, A. (2017). Environmental sustainability of biofuels: a review. *Proceedings of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*

Kristiana, T., Baldino, C., Searle, S. (2022). An estimate of current collection and potential collection of used cooking oil from major Asian exporting countries. *The International Council of Clean Transportation, Working Paper 2022-13*.

Leard, B. McConnell, V. (2017). New Markets for Credit Trading under US Automobile Greenhouse Gas and Fuel Economy Standards. *Resource fort he future*.

Naylor, R. L., Liska, A. J., Burke, M. B., Falcon, W. P., Gaskell, J. C., Rozelle, S. D., & Cassman, K. G. (2007). The Ripple Effect: Biofuels, Food Security, and the Environment. *Environment: Science and Policy for Sustainable Development*, *49*(9), 30-43.

Potsdam Institute for Climate Impact Research (2023): E-fuels likely to remain scarce for a long time: PIK analysis paper.

https://www.pik-potsdam.de/en/news/latest-news/e-fuels-likely-to-remain-scarce-for-a-long-time-pik-analysis-paper (last accessed, 27/11/2024)

Ramadhan, R., Mori, A., Abdoellah, O.S. (2023). Biofuels Development and Indirect Deforestation. In: Triyanti, A., Indrawan, M., Nurhidayah, L., Marfai, M.A. (eds) *Environmental Governance in Indonesia*. *Environment & Policy*, vol 61. Springer, Cham.

Sachverständigenrat für Umweltfragen (2017): Umsteuern erforderlich: Klimaschutz im Verkehrssektor. *Sondergutachten*. Berlin.